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Welcome to accounting and to what many professionals say is the “language of business”. Why is this, you may wonder? Well, what is language but the method used to communicate? Organizations of all types, as well as individuals for that matter, must be able to efficiently identify economic events, establish a record of these events, and finally organize the collected data in a way that effectively communicates this information to interested parties.

So, who are the users of accounting information? They can be described as both internal and external to the organization. For example, accounting, marketing and human resource positions within a company are known as employees, and therefore are internal users. Conversely, creditors, bankers, suppliers, federal government agencies, labor unions, and investors are external users.

Let’s think for a moment, if you were to make a financial decision, what information would you need to make that a good decision? Perhaps you would want to know how much cash you have, what you’ve earned from performing services or selling products, or how much money you have spent. Users of accounting information are no different. They need to know financial performance of the organization, what they own and what they owe before making a decision.

To summarize what we have covered thus far, we know that accounting is an information system or process that identifies, records, and communicates the economic events of an organization to interested internal and external users.

However, accounting information would have no credibility for either internal or external users without ethics. Ethics are the standards of conduct by which actions are judged as right or wrong. If you could not depend on the honesty of the individuals you deal with, effective communication and economic activity would be impossible.

Now that we understand what accounting is and who uses it, in order to compare accounting information of one organization to another, we must agree on a set of rules or standards in how to identify, record, and communicate financial accounting information.

The Financial Accounting Standards Board, called FASB, is an independent, non-governmental organization charged with the responsibility of establishing GAAP. GAAP, spelled G A A P, is an acronym for Generally Accepted Accounting Principles. This is the common set of accounting standards or rules used by organizations for recognizing, recording and reporting accounting information.

Throughout the text, you will begin to understand the different assumptions and terms used in accounting. Let’s begin with the cost principle. This principle states that organizations should record, or document, assets at their cost. Assets are resources owned by the company, such as a vehicle. For example, if a company purchased a vehicle for $20,000 plus $100 in taxes, then a record of the purchase should be made at an amount of $20,100.

A couple of assumptions we make with accounting are the monetary unit assumption and the economic entity assumption. The monetary unit assumption simply states that only data that can be expressed in terms of money be included in the accounting records. The economic entity assumption requires that records be maintained for each economic entity. For example, imagine you own and operate a painting business. In this case both you, as the owner, and the business

are considered separate accounting entities. The owner’s personal cash accounts and transactions would be kept separate from the business cash accounts and transactions.

Now we can begin to understand how to organize our financial accounting data. First, we will start with the general accounting equation. The equation is assets equal liabilities plus owner’s equity.

So, what exactly is meant by asset, liability and equity? As we mentioned previously, an asset is any resource owned by the organization. Common examples of assets are cash, land, buildings, vehicles, supplies, equipment and investments.

A liability is a debt, financial obligation or, more simply, what you owe. The more formal accounting definition of liabilities is creditor claims on assets. For example, let’s say you borrow $100 from a friend, you now have a liability or a debt of $100 for the loan. Your friend now has a claim of $100 on your assets and will expect to be paid $100 cash to settle that claim.

Finally, equity is defined as the owner’s claim to net assets. Equity, or the owner’s claim to net assets, is what you really own as determined by subtracting the sum of all liabilities from the sum of all assets.

Owner’s equity can either be increased, through investments by owner or revenues from business operations, or decreased, through drawings and expenses. With that in mind, we can expand the basic accounting equation to Assets = Liabilities + Owner’s Capital – Owner’s Drawings + Revenues – Expenses. Owner’s capital is assets the owner puts into the business. For example, say you start a business where you provide computer tech support. You might put in $2000 of your own money for various start-up expenses, such as office equipment. This $2000 represents owner’s capital. Owner’s drawings are the assets the owner withdraws for personal use. For example, you might decide to pay yourself a weekly salary.

Revenues are increases in assets resulting from income-earning activities. If you receive $500 from a customer, this is a revenue-producing activity. What this means in the expanded accounting equation is that cash, an asset, would increase by $500, and revenues, an owner’s equity account, would also increase by $500. Expenses are the costs of assets consumed in the process of earning revenue. Examples might include the cost of advertising your business or your cell-phone bill.

The key to accounting for financial transactions accurately is to always keep the general accounting equation in balance. Let’s review the formula again, assets equals liabilities plus owner’s equity. To keep this equation in balance, every transaction or economic event that occurs must have a dual effect on the accounting equation. This dual effect always results in a change to at least two areas of the accounting equation.

Let’s take a simple example to understand the effects of a basic financial transaction on the general accounting equation. A business decides to purchase a car for the business using a loan from a bank. Assets increase for the amount paid, and liabilities increase for the amount owed. In other words, the business now has a resource, a car, to use in the operations of their business, but also a debt, called notes payable, which needs to be paid back. In this example, we just performed what is called transaction analysis. Transaction analysis involves not only identifying that a transaction or economic event has occurred, but also determining how this will affect the general accounting equation.

As you can imagine, businesses engage in a significant number of transactions each business day, so effective organization of accounting data is important. As we stated at the beginning, organizations need to be able to communicate financial information to interested users. Remember there are both internal and external users to an organization. Organizations communicate through the use of four reports, called financial statements. Each of these four financial statements has a unique purpose and communicates specific information about the organization. We will summarize those now.

The income statement is a report that details all the revenues and expenses a company has recognized for a specified period of time. To make this easier to understand, let’s assume you have a job. The wages you are paid from your job are your revenues. For a company, the products they sell or the services they provide to customers are their revenues. When you subtract all your expenses, such as rent, utilities, cell phone, gas, and textbooks from your revenues, what you have remaining is either net income or net loss. Net income results when revenues are greater than expenses, while a net loss results when expenses are greater than revenues.

The next financial statement is the owner’s equity statement. This financial statement summarizes the changes in owner’s equity for a specified period of time. There are two events that increase, and two things that decrease owner’s equity. Investments or contributions made to the organization by the owner, and revenues both increase equity, while cash withdrawals from the organization and expenses both decrease equity.

This may sound confusing, so let’s try to make it a little easier by creating a mathematical equation for how we arrive at the amount of owner’s equity. Owner’s equity can be calculated by taking the amount of equity held at the beginning of the period, adding investments made during the period, adding the net income calculated in the income statement and subtracting any withdrawals of cash made during the period.

The third financial statement is called the balance sheet, sometimes referred to as the statement of financial position. The balance sheet is easier to remember than the others because we simply balance the general accounting equation. In other words, the sum of all assets must equal the sum of all liabilities plus the balance of owner’s equity. Another unique characteristic that we point out about the balance sheet is that unlike the income statement and owner’s equity statement, which reflects information for a period of time, the balance sheet is prepared for a specific date.

The fourth and final financial statement is called the statement of cash flows. This financial statement summarizes information about the cash inflows (receipts) and cash outflows (payments) for a specified period of time.
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In the previous chapter we learned the definition of accounting, parties that use accounting information and the reports used to communicate financial accounting information to interested internal and external users.

In this chapter we are going to develop our understanding of how to develop and maintain a record of all economic events that affect specific asset, liability and owner’s equity items through the use of accounts and journals.

To help us understand how to maintain a record of each asset, liability and owner’s equity item, it may be helpful to first understand why it is important. For example, imagine you have a checking account at the local bank. What information about the checking account would you expect to be able to get from the bank? It would be reasonable to suggest they would have a record of each transaction that resulted in an increase or decrease to your account balance. What would you think of your bank if they were to tell you that they did not maintain your account balance separately from the other customer accounts? You might take your money and RUN to another bank with a better system of organization! It is critical, therefore, that like your checking account we have a system of maintaining a record of transactions and overall balance for each asset, liability or owner’s equity item that we have.

An account is an individual record of the increases and decreases to each specific asset, liability or owner’s equity item. For example, we would have a separate record for the increases and decreases to accounts such as cash, equipment, land, buildings, debts, revenues, expenses, capital investments and withdrawals.

So, now that we understand that each of the asset, liability and owner’s equity items will have increases and decreases to the overall balance, how do we document these effects? This is done through the use of what we call “T” accounts. Created just like a capital letter T, a “T” account is created for each asset, liability and owner’s equity item that we have affecting the organization.

Before we go on let’s review the different types of accounts you would commonly encounter in accounting. Assets, as we stated previously, are resources owned by a business. Common asset accounts are land, equipment, machinery, supplies, prepaid insurance and cash. Liabilities are debts or obligations owed by the company. Common liability accounts are; accounts payable, salaries payable, utilities payable, and notes payable. Owner’s equity is equal to the sum of four specific account balances; revenue, expenses, withdrawals, and the capital account. You should remember that both the revenue and capital account have an increasing effect on owner’s equity, while both expenses and withdrawals have a decreasing effect on owner’s equity. The general accounting equation, therefore, could be expanded into the following: assets equals liabilities plus revenues plus capital less expenses less withdrawals.

The basic form of the “T” account is such that on top of the capital “T” we indicate the name or title of the account, such as cash. The left side of the “T” is always referred to as the debit side, while the right side of the “T” is always referred to as the credit side. The debit and credit sides simply provide direction as to which side of the “T” a number should be recorded on. For example, if I say to debit the cash account $100, you should know to record or document $100 on the left side of the “T” since the left side is the debit side and the right side is the credit side.

The question now, of course, is how do we distinguish between the increases or decreases of each specific account? One side of the “T” account will document all increases, while the other side will document all decreases. The tricky and often confusing part to students is that the rule as to which side of the “T” that increases and decreases the balance changes depending on the type of account.

Why would the rule change depending on whether it was an asset, liability or owner’s equity account? To answer this, let’s remember in the previous chapter where we explained that in order to balance the general accounting equation, we had to have a dual effect of every transaction. In order to keep the accounting equation in balance, the amount from any transaction must result in a change to at least two accounts.

With the explanation of debits and credits, we must now understand that to keep the accounting equation in balance, the sum of accounts that are debited must equal the sum of the accounts that are credited. The amounts put on the left side of any “T” account must equal the amounts put on the right side of any “T” account.

For all asset, expense, and withdrawal accounts, the debit side of the “T” will indicate a positive increase to the account, while the credit side will indicate a negative decrease to the account. For all liability, revenue, and capital accounts, a debit will indicate a decrease to the account, while a credit will indicate an increase to the account. For all individual accounts, if the sum of numbers on the debit side is greater than the sum of the numbers on the credit side, it is said that the account has a debit balance. The reverse is true as well. If the sum of numbers on the debit side is less than the sum of numbers on the credit side, it is said the account has a credit balance. For example, if the cash account has a total of $100 on the debit side and $25 on the credit, we have a $75 debit or positive balance.

For all asset, liability and owner’s equity accounts we have expected, or what we call normal, balances. For asset, expense and withdrawal accounts they have a normal debit balance, while liability, revenue and capital accounts have a normal credit balance.

To summarize where we are right now, you should understand that a “T” account is created for every type of asset, liability and owner’s equity account that a business has. This account will detail the effects of transactions that result in both increases and decreases to the account as described by the terms debit and credit, and provide for an overall debit or credit balance.

We are now going to discuss the basic steps in the accounting recording process. Initially we must identify transactions or economic events that have a financial effect on the organization. Once this is completed, we must analyze the transaction to determine its affects on the general accounting equation, and more specifically, on the accounts. We create a written document of this transactional information through the use of a journal and transfer the amounts from the journal to the ledger or “T” accounts to keep updated account balances.

In identifying how to record a transaction you should first identify the specific category or categories affected. For example, ask yourself if assets, liabilities or owner’s equity is affected. Once the category is identified, you then identify the specific account within that category that should be affected. With the specific accounts identified, you must then determine whether the account is positively increased or negatively decreased in amount. Finally, using the debit and credit information discussed earlier, you should be able to indicate the effects on the accounts and ultimately the general accounting equation.

Let’s take a simple example to demonstrate the process you will want to follow in analyzing transactions. ABC Company purchased $100 of supplies on account. Analyzing this transaction, you should be able to identify that the supplies, an asset, account and accounts payable, a liability account are affected. Remembering that debits indicate increases to asset accounts, and that credits indicate increases to liability accounts, you now have the information necessary to make a record of the transaction in the journal.

The journal allows us to document or make a written journal entry in one place the complete effects of each transaction. This includes the date of the transaction, the specific accounts and related amounts that are debited and the specific accounts and related amounts that are credited. Remember, the sum of the debited accounts must always equal the sum of the credited accounts. A simple entry is one that includes one debited account and one credited account, while a compound entry is one that includes not just two, but at least three accounts. Journals assist us creating a chronological record of all the many transactions that a business has each day and in preventing or locating errors that may have been made.

Once the journal entry for a specific transaction has been made, the amount must be transferred or posted to the ledger accounts. A ledger is an entire group of accounts maintained by a company. For example, the asset ledger will maintain account balances for our asset accounts such as cash, equipment, machinery, and inventory. The ledger keeps in one place all the information about changes in specific account balances.

At the conclusion of a period of time, we will transfer our account balances into one of the four financial statements discussed previously. Before preparing these financial statements, however, it is beneficial to first prepare a trial balance. A trial balance is a listing of all the accounts with their respective debit or credit balances at a given time. Its primary purpose is to prove the mathematical equality of debits and credits after posting from the journal to the ledger accounts. A trial balance may uncover errors in journalizing and posting and is therefore a beneficial step before preparing financial statements. There are limitations, however, of a trial balance. For example, a trial balance may still balance when a transaction is not journalized, a correct journal entry is not posted, a journal entry is posted twice, incorrect accounts are used in journalizing or posting or when offsetting errors are made in recording. Once a trial balance is performed successfully, the financial statements can now be prepared
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This chapter will attempt to clarify the importance of ensuring that all account balances are accurate prior to preparing financial statements. Remember that financial statements are the main source of information to internal and external users, providing details on the company performance. To make good financial decisions, we must be sure that revenues and expenses are reported in the proper period, and that assets, liabilities and equity are accurate as of a specific date. In order to communicate these balances accurately, we must make adjusting journal entries.

The time period assumption states that we can divide the economic life of a business into artificial time periods. Companies generally prepare financial statements on a monthly, quarterly and annual basis. The annual financial statement reports for a twelve month period, called a fiscal year. Sometimes this will coincide with the calendar and sometimes it will be another twelve month period, such as July 1st through June 30th.

As we know, GAAP (or Generally Accepted Accounting Principles) provides the accounting rules or guidelines that companies follow. It is GAAP that is used to follow accrual basis accounting. Accrual basis accounting basically means that we should record events in the period in which they have an economic impact, whether or not cash is involved. For example, let’s say that we have employees that worked in November, but will be paid for those services in December. Since the work was performed in November, the labor expense should be recorded in that month, not in December when the cash was actually paid to the employees.

Accrual basis accounting allows us to ensure that revenues and expenses are properly recorded and reported in the proper period that they occurred. Accrual basis accounting involves the application of two important principles; the revenue recognition and matching principles. The revenue recognition principle states that revenues should be recognized, or recorded, in the period in which they are earned. The matching principle states that expenses be recognized in the period in which they are incurred, regardless of when they are paid. For example, let’s imagine a company will pay its employees in December for the work performed in November. The company must recognize the expenses related to labor in the month of November, not in the month of December when they are actually paid. This properly matches labor expense in the same month that the corresponding revenues are recognized based upon their services.

In order for our monthly, quarterly or annual financial statements to be accurately stated, we must review our activity and account balances to ensure that revenues and expenses are reported in the proper period. Typically we will identify either deferrals or accruals that will need to be recorded. Deferrals and accruals are the two types of adjusting journal entries made prior to preparing financial statements. We will discuss each of these now.

Deferrals are either prepaid expenses or unearned revenues that have been recorded, but need to have their balances adjusted due to the passage of time or through activities that have been performed. In the case of prepaid expenses, let’s take the example of an insurance policy. When you purchase an insurance policy, it is typically prepaid, meaning that it covers a future time period. Let’s assume you bought a car insurance policy for $12,000, which will cover the next 12 months. Simple division will tell you that as each month passes, we will have used up 1 month or $1,000 worth of the policy. When the policy was purchased, you would have debited the asset account Prepaid Insurance for $12,000, and credited the asset account, Cash, for $12,000. At the conclusion of each month, you will need an adjusting entry to recognize or

record the use of one month of the policy. In other words, you would need to debit Insurance Expense for $1,000 and credit Prepaid Insurance for $1,000. The second type of deferral is unearned revenues, which describes cash paid to a company in advance of the delivery of products or services. Since according to the revenue recognition principle we DO NOT recognize revenue until it is earned, we must debit Unearned Revenues, a liability account, for the cash paid. It is only after the services have been provided that we can make an adjusting entry to recognize or credit Service or Sales Revenue.

Accruals are the second type of adjusting entries that need to be recorded prior to preparing financial statements. Accrued expenses are expenses that have been incurred, but have not been recorded and have yet to be paid. For example, a November electric bill arrives in the mail in December. Prior to preparing the November monthly financial statements, we would need to make an adjusting entry in November which would debit Utility Expense and credit Utilities Payable, a liability account. Accrued revenues are revenues that have been earned, but cash has not been received and it has not yet been recorded. For example, let’s imagine a company provides landscaping services to a customer in November, but bills the customer for the services in December. Since the services have been performed in November, and thus earned, we would need an adjusting entry to properly recognize that activity in November.

You may recall that we usually prepare a trial balance to ensure the mathematical accuracy of our account balances. It is a listing of all the accounts with balances either in a credit or a debit column. The sum of all the accounts with a debit balance should equal the sum of all accounts with a credit balance. A trial balance is not a financial statement, just a tool to ensure the mathematical accuracy of the accounts. Once this is complete, the adjusting entries are made, and finally another trial balance is performed. This second trial balance is called an Adjusted Trial Balance, since it then performs a check of the mathematical accuracy of the debited and credited accounts AFTER the completion of all adjusting journal entries.

The financial statements can now be prepared using the adjusted trial balance. The revenue and expense accounts are used to prepare the Income Statement. The owner’s equity, drawing and net income accounts are then used to prepare the Statement of Owner’s Equity. Finally, the asset, expense and owner’s equity balances are used to prepare the Balance Sheet.
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You have come a long way already in your understanding of accounting. We’ve explained what accounting is and how we organize and report various types of financial transactions. We explained the importance of reporting revenues and expenses in the proper period, through the use of adjusting journal entries. Here, we will discuss how to complete the accounting cycle.

Remember that both the income statement and statement of owner’s equity reflect the activities of a company for a period of time. Most companies prepare monthly, quarterly and annual financial statements. Companies will often utilize what is called a worksheet to assist in the preparation of these financial statements. After all the necessary adjusting entries have been made, and the financial statements have been prepared, closing journal entries are recorded to re-set some of the account balances to zero to prepare for the next period.

It is important to understand that a worksheet is not a financial statement, but merely a multiple column form used to document all the adjusting entries, the adjusted account balances used to prepare the financial statements, and all the closing entries. Imagine a sheet of paper where at the top, moving left to right, there are a series of alternating debit and credit columns. In completing the worksheet we will update account balances as we move from left to right. From top to bottom on the far left side of the form a list of all accounts and their unadjusted balances are listed, which is the same as unadjusted trial balance discussed previously.

There are five basic steps in the preparation of the worksheet. Step 1 requires the accountant to prepare a trial balance on the worksheet. Step 2 requires that we document all the adjusting entries in the next series of debit and credit columns to the right. Once the adjustments have been made, you can move onto step 3 where the account balances are revised or adjusted, taking into account the adjusting entries that had just been made. These updated account balances, or adjusted trial balance, are placed once again in the next set of debit and credit columns located to the right of the adjusting entries. Step 4 requires that we transfer the trial balance amounts to the appropriate income statement or balance sheet columns. The debit and credit columns for the income statement will be first, followed by the debit and credit columns to the right for the balance sheet. Finally, in Step 5 the debit and credit columns related to the income statement are totaled to determine net income or net loss. If the sum of accounts with credit balances, normal for revenue accounts, exceeds the sum of accounts with debit balances, normal for expense accounts, then there is net income. These amounts are transferred from the worksheet to the actual financial statements provided to our internal and external users.

Now that we have completed the worksheet and prepared our financial statements, it is time to close the books for the period. Before we get to the steps necessary for closing the books, we must distinguish between temporary and permanent accounts. Temporary accounts are those accounts that reflect activity specifically related to one accounting period. Temporary accounts, therefore, are the revenue, expense and owner’s drawing accounts since they reflect activity being reported for a period of time. We must manually close these balances to zero to in order to begin recording activity for the period. For example, imagine that you are interested in investing in ABC Company. To perform a good analysis of the company, you would expect ABC Company to have prepared an income statement for each year of operation reflecting performance specific to each of those years. To make this happen, temporary accounts must begin the reporting period at a zero balance. Permanent accounts, on the other hand, relate to those accounts that affect one or more future accounting periods. Permanent accounts, therefore, are all assets, liabilities and the owner’s capital account. Permanent accounts are never closed from period to period.

Closing journal entries are those entries that formally and intentionally close all temporary accounts at the end of a period. Revenue and expense accounts are closed to zero through the use of another temporary account, called income summary. Income summary is never reported in any financial statement. It is simply an account used only in the closing process. Since revenue accounts have a normal credit balance, we would debit the account for the amount necessary to bring it to a zero balance and credit income summary for the same amount. Since expense accounts have a normal debit balance we would credit each expense account for the amount necessary to bring those to a zero balance and debit income summary. At this point, all revenue and expense accounts should be at a zero balance. Since income summary is a temporary account, we must also bring it to an overall zero balance by closing it to the owner’s capital account. Let’s assume we have a credit balance in the income summary account. To close this account, we would debit income summary for the amount necessary to get it to a zero balance, and credit the owner’s capital account for the same amount. Remember that a credit to the owner’s capital account increases its balance.

The purpose of the income summary account is to avoid excessive details in the owner’s capital account related to the closing process that would result if we were to directly close revenue and expenses to that account. The final step in the closing process is to close the owner’s drawing account, another temporary account, to a zero balance. This account, unlike the others, is directly closed to the owner’s capital account. Since the drawing account has a normal debit balance, we would credit the account for the amount necessary to bring it to a zero balance, and debit the owner’s capital account for the same amount. Again, remember that drawings result in a decrease, or debit, to the owner’s capital account. The only accounts that should now have a balance are the permanent accounts, which again are the asset, liability and owner’s capital accounts.

After journalizing and posting all closing entries, a company then prepares another trial balance, the post-closing trial balance. A post-closing trial balance contains the balances in permanent accounts that are carried forward to the next accounting period. The purpose of this trial balance is to prove the equality of these balances. Preparation of the post-closing trial balance ends the accounting cycle.

We have now reviewed the complete accounting cycle for a business. To recap, let’s review the required steps: (1) analyze business transactions, (2) journalize the transactions, (3) post to ledger accounts, (4) prepare a trial balance, (5) journalize and post adjusting entries, (6) prepare an adjusted trial balance, (7) prepare financial statements, (8) journalize and post closing entries, and (9) prepare a post-closing trial balance.

Unfortunately, errors sometimes occur in the accounting cycle. Companies should correct errors as soon as they discover them by journalizing and posting correcting entries. One way to determine the correcting entry is to compare the incorrect entry with the correct entry. After comparing the two entries, companies should make a correcting entry to correct the accounts. An alternative to a correcting entry is to reverse the incorrect entry and then prepare the correct entry. We discuss how to prepare reversing entries in the chapter appendix.

The last area we will discuss is usage of what’s called the classified balance sheet. We know that the balance sheet reflects a company’s asset, liability and owner’s capital account at a specific point in time, such as December 31st. To assist users in analyzing the balance sheet it is helpful to classify or categorize accounts with similar characteristics. Remember that

companies typically use a large number of accounts, so by using a classified balance sheet, companies can organize their accounts to be more informative.

Asset accounts are classified as current assets, long term investments, PPE or property, plant and equipment, or as intangible assets. Intangible assets are those assets that do not have physical substance yet often have significant value by providing exclusive or legally protected rights to the company. Common examples of intangible assets are patents, copyright, slogans and trademarks.

Liability accounts are classified as either current or long term. Current liabilities are debts or obligations expected to be settled within the next year. Common examples are accounts payable, salaries payable, interest payable, short term notes payable and taxes payable. Typically these debts are expected to be paid rather quickly. Long term liabilities are those debts that will be paid after one year. Common examples are bonds payable, long term notes payable, lease liabilities and mortgages payable.

As for owner’s equity, at this point we have taken the perspective of one business owner so we will have only one owner’s capital account in this section of the balance sheet. If we operated as a partnership, we would then have a separate capital account for each partner. If we operated as a corporation, we would then have many more equity accounts. We will distinguish these accounting differences in later chapters.
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There are many types of companies that operate in the business environment; but generally they can be referred to as service providers, manufacturers or merchandisers. In this chapter, we are going to discuss the basic accounting issues for merchandising operations. Merchandisers, also known as retailers, seek profits through the sale of finished goods. Finished goods, called merchandise inventory, are in a form or condition ready to use. For example, an electronics retailer primarily generates revenue through the sale of electronics such as televisions, DVDs, and CDs.

There are two approaches to accounting for inventory, the perpetual inventory system and the periodic inventory system.

In a perpetual inventory system, detailed records are maintained regarding the cost of each product that was bought and the price at which it was sold. Technology, such as bar code scanners, allow for the immediate calculation and adjustment to all of the accounts involved. This system allows a company to continuously maintain an updated balance of its inventory account, which is an asset, and the cost of goods sold account, which is an expense. Each time a sale is made by a merchandiser there are always two journal entries. The first will record the effects of the sale, while the second will record the effects on inventory. Before we take a simple example, understand that the business objective of every merchandiser is to sell products at a greater amount than their cost.

For example, let’s imagine we are an electronics retailer that sells televisions. The cost of the televisions to us is the price paid to obtain the product from the manufacturer. We certainly want to sell these televisions at a markup. This is a price increased by enough of a percentage to cover the cost of the inventory, as well as other administrative expenses such as rent, utilities and wages. The difference between the cost and sale price is called gross profit. So, if a retailer bought a television from a manufacturer at $200, marked it up and sold it to a customer for $500, our gross profit from the sale is $300.

The first of two journal entries would be a debit to cash or accounts receivable for $500, depending on the terms of the sale, for $500 and a credit to sales revenue for $500. The second journal entry would be a debit to cost of goods sold for $200 and a credit to inventory for $200. Note that gross profit is not an account. Just like net income, it is simply a term used to describe the mathematical difference between two numbers.

In a periodic inventory system, companies do not keep detailed inventory records of the inventory on hand or the cost of goods sold throughout the period. These are determined only at the end of the accounting period when a physical count of inventory is made to determine the necessary journal entries. Rather than having two journal entries each time a sale is made, like the perpetual inventory system, only one journal entry is made at the time of the sale. This journal entry is a debit to cash or accounts receivable and a credit to sales revenue. The balance of both the inventory account and the cost of goods sold account is determined at the end of the accounting period when a physical count can be made. The calculation starts by adding the cost of goods purchased during the period to the cost of goods on hand at the beginning of the period. This total is called the cost of goods available for sale. The actual amount of inventory on hand at the end of the period is subtracted from this amount to determine the cost of goods sold.

When companies purchase merchandise inventory they need to make sure that they follow the cost principle we discussed earlier. Do you remember this principle? This principle requires assets to be recorded at the price paid to acquire the asset. In other words, we debit the inventory account for not only the list price, but also for any sales taxes, insurance and freight costs paid to acquire the goods. When the buyer pays the shipping, it is termed FOB shipping point, meaning legal ownership changes from seller to buyer when the goods are placed on the carrier. When the seller pays the shipping costs, it is termed FOB destination, meaning legal ownership changes when the goods arrive at the buyer’s location. FOB stands for “free on board”.

There are a couple of situations that typically occur, that merchandise retailers have to account for, related to purchases of merchandise. These are purchase returns and allowances; and purchase discounts. Occasionally, a buyer of inventory will return purchases or obtain an allowance for a variety of reasons, such as damage or dissatisfaction. An allowance is equivalent to store credit. Perhaps you can remember a situation where you returned a product to a store in exchange for store credit. Each situation will require a credit, or decrease, to the inventory account. A discount can also be offered to a buyer. This allows the buyer to pay a lesser amount than what is owed if the balance is paid within a stated period of time. For example, if inventory is purchased under the terms 2/10, n/30, this means the amounts paid within 10 days of the purchase receive a discount in the amount of 2%. If the balance is not paid within 10 days, the entire balance is due within 30 days. In accounting for these transactions, you need to remember the cost principle, meaning that we would have to decrease the merchandise inventory account for any allowance or discount realized.

The same situations we just discussed relating to purchases can occur with sales. In other words, a merchandiser will need to record any sales return and allowances or sales discount given. Both sales returns and allowances and sales discounts are contra-revenue accounts, meaning they will have a normal debit, or negative, balance and will ultimately be subtracted from sales revenue in the income statement to arrive at gross profit.

Each of the required steps in the accounting cycle for a service company, which we reviewed in an earlier chapter, also applies to a merchandising company. A worksheet, which we discuss in the chapter appendix, is again an optional step. Under a perpetual inventory system, a company must adjust the merchandise inventory account to agree with the physical count.

Merchandising companies use either a multiple step income statement or a single step income statement when preparing financial statements at the end of a period. The multiple income statement has several steps in determining net income. In the body of the income statement, this format distinguishes between operating and non-operating activities, and there are several steps or subtotals before arriving at net income. For example, gross profit is shown in this format.

The single step income statement simply shows one step in the calculation of net income. Revenues, gains, and other revenues and gains, whether from operating or non-operating activities, are totaled. Expenses, losses and other expenses and losses, are totaled, and subtracted from total revenues to arrive at net income or net loss. Gross profit would not be displayed in the single step format.

We conclude this chapter by discussing gross profit, which represents the merchandising profit of a company. Merchandising companies compute gross profit by subtracting cost of goods sold from net sales. Managers and other interested parties closely watch the amount and trend of

gross profit and of the gross profit rate, which is a percentage computed by dividing gross profit by net sales.
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In this chapter, we continue our discussion of issues related to merchandise inventory. We should remember that companies account for inventory either using the perpetual or periodic inventory system. This chapter will cover the methods used to calculate and assign costs of inventory on hand, as well as those items that have been sold.

Inventory can take many forms, but for reporting purposes it is classified as either finished goods, work in process, or raw materials. Both merchandisers and manufacturers typically have inventory accounts. Finished goods inventory will include all types of inventory, but they all share the characteristic of being in a form ready for its intended use. For example, a sporting goods retailer would have inventory accounts for each shoe, clothing and accessory item that they carry. Work in process inventory describes items in various stages of production but are not complete. Finally, raw materials are inventory that will be eventually used in production, but have yet to be put into the production process.

Determining inventory quantities involves two steps: 1) taking a physical inventory of goods on hand and 2) determining the ownership of goods in transit or on consignment.

Goods in transit are goods that are on board a truck, train, ship or plane at the end of the period. The shipping terms related to inventory, FOB shipping point and FOB destination, can assist us in determining ownership. When the terms are FOB shipping point, ownership of the goods passes to the buyer when the public carrier accepts the goods from the seller. When the terms are FOB destination, ownership of the goods remains with the seller until the goods reach the buyer. Finally, consignment is a common business arrangement whereby inventory items are held without taking ownership.

Merchandisers and manufacturers alike will include on their balance sheet all the finished goods they currently offer for sale, however only manufacturers will additionally report work in process and raw materials. In addition, both merchandisers and manufacturers report cost of goods sold on the income statement since they both sell finished goods. For merchandisers, this is simply the cost of finished goods purchased from manufacturers that were sold to customers during the period. For manufacturers, this is the cost of manufacturing those goods that were sold. Let’s remember - the objective of any merchandiser is to buy finished goods at a price lower than that at which they can re-sell the same product to a customer. The objective of manufacturers is to sell products they manufacture at a price greater than the costs associated with producing it.

Now that we understand that inventory costs affect both the balance sheet, in terms of finished goods, work in process and raw materials; and the income statement, in terms of cost of goods sold, we must now understand the accounting cost flow. Cost flow is the determination of what inventory costs will be reported on the balance sheet and the income statement. Think for a moment about what will determine actual inventory amounts reported on the balance sheet. These dollar amounts are a function of both quantity and unit cost. For example, a retailer that has 4 notebooks at a unit cost of $2 will report inventory balance at $8, or 4 multiplied by $2. Remember that merchandise inventory consists of items for re-sale, as opposed to supplies or items for use in the business.

Inventory cost flows can either be an actual or assumed cost flow. The actual cost flow method is called specific identification and is used primarily for those items that are relatively unique, sold at high prices, and in relatively low quantity. Examples of these would include precious gems, custom made items and possible rare antiquities. Because these items are not mass manufactured items, the specific identification allows us to easily trace the exact cost of purchase as a finished good through to its sale and reporting as a cost of goods sold.

Since most inventory items are manufactured and sold in relatively large quantity it is much more practical to utilize one of the three assumed cost flow methods. The first-in, first-out, or FIFO method makes the assumption that the first inventory items purchased are the first items sold. Because we purchase inventory at different prices over time, the unsold inventory on hand is going to be reported at a cost different from those goods that have been sold. The last-in, first-out, or LIFO method, makes the assumption that the last inventory items purchased are now the first items sold. Remember that because it is likely that inventory is purchased at different prices over time, the cost of goods still on hand and cost of goods sold will vary based upon which assumption is made by the company. The average cost method makes the assumption that each unit is assigned the same unit price. In other words, the average cost per inventory item is calculated by taking the total cost of all inventory purchased and dividing that by the number of inventory items. This average cost is then multiplied by the units still on hand to determine the ending inventory balance sheet amount. The average cost is also multiplied by the units actually sold to determine the cost of goods sold amount. The average cost is weighted by the quantities purchased at each unit cost.

Each of the three assumed cost flow methods is acceptable for GAAP purposes and to ensure application of the consistency principle, companies are expected to use the same accounting principles and methods from year to year. In other words, if a company selects the FIFO method for one type of inventory, it must use that method each and every period in the reporting of its merchandise inventory and cost of goods sold. Keep in mind that these three cost flow methods may result in different financial effects. For example, when prices are rising, the FIFO method results in lower cost of goods sold and higher net income than the other methods. The reverse is true when prices are falling. In the balance sheet, FIFO results in an ending inventory that is closest to current value; inventory under LIFO is the farthest from current value. LIFO results in the lowest income taxes.

Before we complete the chapter, let’s address some other important issues related to inventory accounting. These are the importance of understanding ownership of inventory, the application of lower-of-cost-or-market (or LCM), and inventory errors.

The lower-of-cost-or-market is a deviation from the cost principle we learned earlier, but more importantly helps to ensure that we follow the accounting concept of conservatism. Conservatism in accounting suggests that the best choice among accounting alternatives is the method that is least likely to overstate assets and net income. Companies periodically compare the cost of inventory with the cost of replacing the same items. Inventory should be reported at the lesser of the cost of replacement and the original acquisition cost. This avoids the overstatement of inventory balances and either overstatement or understatement of cost of goods sold, depending on the inventory cost flow method used, which is consistent with the concept of conservatism.

Unfortunately, accounting errors occur due to a variety of reasons. Errors related to inventory will affect both the ending inventory account balance, reported in the balance sheet, and net income as determined by the cost of goods sold amount, reported in the income statement. These errors will have an unusual reversing effect in the next accounting period since this account does affect both financial statements.

We end this chapter with a discussion of the inventory turnover ratio. The inventory turnover ratio is cost of goods sold divided by average inventory. To convert it to average days in inventory, divide 365 days by the inventory turnover ratio.
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Companies that wish to have accurate and reliable accounting information must develop an efficient and effective system for maintaining and recording accounting data. The process of collecting, recording and communicating transaction information, whether manually or computerized, is termed the accounting information system.

The basic principles of any accounting information system are that it must be cost effective, useful, and flexible. In other words, the benefits of the information provided by the system must outweigh the costs, and it must be flexible to meet the changing needs of the company. General ledger accounting information systems are very common today among all organizations due to their relatively low cost and development of software technology. These computerized systems integrate the various accounting functions related to the operation of a business and generate various reports in addition to the standard financial statements.

To enhance the usefulness of an accounting information system, it is common to develop a group of separate accounts that share a common characteristic. These accounts are called subsidiary ledgers and two common ones are the accounts receivable subsidiary ledger and the accounts payable subsidiary ledger. Imagine that you operated a business and many of your customers bought products or services on account. Would you prefer to keep these sales made on account in only one single ledger account or would it perhaps be more beneficial, informative and useful to create separate ledger accounts for each customer? Probably the choice would be to separate amounts owed to you and amounts owed to others, and this demonstrates the purpose and usefulness of subsidiary ledgers.

Subsidiary ledgers also help to locate errors in individual accounts and more easily assign accounting responsibilities. The sum of all accounts receivable subsidiary ledgers and the accounts payable subsidiary ledgers would equal the balance reported in the general ledger and financial statements. The general ledger is commonly referred to as a control account because it presents the summarized total of the detailed amounts reflected in the subsidiary ledger accounts.

Journal entries are used to record transactions and other economic events that affect the organization. An accounting information system will often incorporate the use of various special journals and a general journal. Think of a journal as a sort of electronic notebook whereby journal entries of similar types and purpose are recorded. In other words, the type and purpose of each journal entry will determine in which notebook, or journal, the journal entry will be made. There are four special journals and one general journal. We will briefly describe each of these now.

The sales journal will document all sales of merchandise on account. This journal will only record transactions specific to this type. Without the need for amounts, we should know that a sale on account will result in two journal entries assuming a perpetual inventory system. In other words, we would debit cash or accounts receivable, depending on the terms of the sale, and cost of goods sold, and credit both sales revenue and merchandise inventory. As accounts receivable is a common subsidiary ledger, the amounts journalized to this account will be posted to the specific customer ledger on a daily basis, while the total amount of all entries affecting accounts receivable will be posted to the general ledger at the end of the month.

The cash receipts journal is used to record all transactions involving the collection of cash. Examples of journal entries recorded in this journal include those relating to cash sales, capital

contributions, collection of accounts receivable, sale of equipment, and cash received from loans. Remember the individual amounts are always posted on a daily basis and the totals are always posted to the general ledger at the end of the month. This is true of all special journals and the general journal.

Posting a multi-column journal involves the following steps: (1) Companies post all column totals except for the other accounts column once at the end of the month to the account title specified in the column heading. (2) Companies do not post the total of the other accounts column; instead, the individual amounts comprising the total are posted separately to the general ledger accounts specified in the account credited (or account debited) column. (3) The individual amounts in a column posted in total to a control account are posted daily to the subsidiary ledger amounts specified in the account credited (or account debited) column.

The purchases journal will record all purchases of merchandise on account. This will result in a debit to the merchandise inventory account and a credit to the accounts payable account. Remember that accounts payable is a common subsidiary ledger, so companies will maintain separate accounts for balances owed to each vendor or supplier. Postings are made daily to the accounts payable subsidiary ledger, and monthly to the accounts payable and merchandise inventory general ledger accounts.

The cash payments journal is used to record all transactions involving the disbursement of cash. Examples of journal entries recorded here include those relating to the cash purchase of merchandise, payment of accounts payable, repayment of loans, cash payment for expenses or cash purchase of property, plant, equipment, supplies or investments.

The general journal is NOT a special journal, since those are only used to record similar types of transactions. The general journal is used to document only those journal entries that cannot be recorded in one of the special journals. Examples of journal entries recorded here include all correcting, adjusting and closing entries.

The information that we have learned in this chapter is what is used to help organizations effectively and efficiently document and maintain a record of the transactions and economic events that affect them. You also are an economic entity that should create and develop an accounting information system to assist you in keeping accurate records and making good financial decisions. Without a good business or personal accounting information system, it is difficult to achieve your goals and objectives.
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Business owners and management have a lot to think about in order to be financially successful. Generating sales, controlling costs, hiring good employees, and making good financial decisions are all critical elements of success. One area you might not have thought of is the importance of effective internal controls. Internal controls consist of all the related methods, policies and procedures designed to both safeguard assets and enhance the accuracy and reliability of accounting records. All assets represent resources used in the operation of a business, but the most valuable and susceptible asset to diversion, misuse or theft is cash. It is for this reason that, in this chapter, we primarily, but not solely, focus on internal controls as they are related to safeguarding cash.

With respect to the accuracy of accounting records, you may have heard of the corporate accounting failures at Enron, WorldCom, Tyco, Fannie Mae and Global Crossing in the early 2000s. Most of these failures resulted from inadequate or ineffective internal controls, which result in inaccurate misrepresentation of performance of the organization. The failure to have effective internal controls can have devastating effects on the investing public, a company’s employees and the community in general. The Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 was important legislation passed by Congress, designed to place more responsibility on both corporate executives and the boards of directors by ensuring that internal controls are reliable and effective.

Internal control helps to discourage employees from fraudulent activities. A fraud is a dishonest act by an employee that results in personal benefit to the employee at a cost to the employer. Examples of fraud may include a bookkeeper embezzling money from a company, or even a church treasurer who “borrows” church funds to finance a friend’s business dealings. The three main factors that contribute to fraud are depicted by the fraud triangle. They include opportunity, financial pressure, and rationalization.

There are six basic principles of internal control utilized by most companies; the extent of their implementation often depends on the size, business nature, and management’s attitude toward controls. Remember, the objective of these six principles is to safeguard assets and enhance the accuracy and reliability of the accounting records. Since cash is the asset most important to safeguard, these six principles can be designed and implemented into both the cash receipts and cash disbursements processes. We will now briefly discuss each of the six principles.

The first principle is establishment of responsibility. The idea behind this principle is that a control is most effective when only one person is responsible for a given task. For example, usually one individual is given the responsibility for a cash drawer at a place of business. That easily assigns accountability for the amount of cash put in, and taken out of the drawer.

The second principle is segregation of duties. The idea behind this principle is that different individuals should be responsible for related activities and that record keeping for assets should be kept separate from the physical custody of that asset. The effectiveness of this control is that the activities of one employee should provide a reliable basis for evaluating the activities of another employee. For example, a purchase on account would be recorded in the accounting information system by one individual and the check payment for the purchase would be approved and signed for by a different individual.

The third principle is documentation procedures. Documents in various forms provide evidence that recorded transactions and economic events have occurred. Examples of

supporting documentation are receipts, contracts, sales invoices, shipping documents and cancelled checks. If you were to review a company’s journal entries, you should expect that each amount be properly supported by either an external or internal document. Generally they would at least provide evidence relating to the date, amount and purpose of the entry.

The fourth principle is physical, mechanical and electronic controls. Chances are you have a password that allows you access to your email. Passwords are a type of control used to ensure only authorized personnel can access various aspects within a computerized accounting information system. Physical controls primarily relate to the safeguarding of assets and include protections such as safes, vaults, safety deposit boxes, cabinet locks and building access codes. Mechanical and electronic controls such as alarms, security television monitors and time clocks also not only ensure safeguarding of assets, but also enhance the accuracy and reliability of accounting records.

The fifth principle is independent internal verification, which involves the review of data prepared and recorded by employees. Verification is most effective if performed periodically or on a surprise basis by an employee independent of the personnel responsible for the information.

The sixth and final principle is termed other controls. Other controls include bonding, or obtaining insurance protection against misappropriation of assets by employees who handle cash. In addition, these other controls include rotating employee duties and responsibilities, requiring employee vacations and conducting background checks.

Companies also need to safeguard their petty cash fund. Companies operate a petty cash fund to pay relatively small amounts of cash. For example, companies would use their petty cash funds to pay for postage due, working lunches, or taxi fares. They must establish the fund, make payments from the fund, and replenish the fund when the cash in the fund reaches a minimum level.

Most everyone, including companies and individuals, use banks as a form of internal control. Assets, such as cash, can be protected by depositing them in an account or in a safety deposit box. Banks provide a monthly bank statement, which provides excellent supporting documentation of all cash deposits, disbursements and daily balances for each account. If you have a savings or checking account, think about the type of information and supporting documentation your bank provides.

Due to the timing differences of cash receipts and disbursements, potential errors, and various charges and deposits made directly to the account, the bank balance at the end of the statement date is likely different from the accounting book balance at the same date. An important internal verification procedure is the bank reconciliation procedure. Conducted by an employee independent of any responsibility for the receipt and recording of cash, reconciling involves making adjustments to either the bank or book balance to arrive at an equal amount. Those reconciling adjustments to the book balance require journal entries to properly record the effects on the cash account not previously recorded.

When it comes time to report cash, companies list it first in the current assets section of the balance sheet. In some cases, they report cash together with cash equivalents. Cash restricted for a special purpose is reported separately as a current asset or as a noncurrent asset, depending on when the cash is expected to be used.

We have discussed a lot of the important considerations necessary for designing and implementing effective internal controls. Companies desire reasonable assurance that controls properly safeguard assets and enhance the accuracy and reliability of the accounting records. No internal control system is ever perfect as the costs of internal control design and implementation should not outweigh the benefits derived. Because of this reasonable assurance, there are always limitations on internal controls. Human errors, fatigue, carelessness and collusion can also impair the effectiveness of a system. Collusion is when two or more individuals work together to avoid or circumvent the internal control policies and procedures.

Hopefully this chapter will have provided you with a greater sense of understanding about the needs of companies to protect all assets, and ensure the accounting records are accurate and reliable for those parties that depend on them in their decision making. In a world where identity theft has become more common, perhaps now you can see how internal controls, in your job or your own personal financial environment, can help to ensure your financial success and protection.
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This chapter focuses on receivables. The term receivable refers to the amount of cash expected to be received by an organization at some future date. It is very common for companies to use credit for their selling activities, thus resulting in a receivable or the expectation that cash will be received at a later date. Receivables are assets since they represent future benefits to be obtained.

There are three general types of receivables; accounts receivable, notes receivable and other receivables. Accounts receivable refers to those amounts owed by customers that made purchases on account. These amounts are typically expected to be collected during a period of between thirty and sixty days. You might remember that accounts receivable is so common it is generally beneficial to establish subsidiary ledgers for each specific customer that has a balance due on their account. Notes receivable are claims, through the use of a written promissory note as formal proof of the debt. Notes are usually established for amounts due over a period of sixty days. Miscellaneous or other receivables can result from various non-recurring transactions. Some common examples are loans made by the company to its executives, interest due from notes receivable, and government tax refunds.

Since businesses typically do business on account and have significant balances resulting from these transactions, it is important to understand the three issues associated with accounts receivable. The first is recognizing accounts receivable. This issue simply suggests we record transactions to document the future benefit, any sales returns and allowances that occur, and any sales discounts taken advantage of by customers. As you know, each of these events has a direct affect on the overall receivable balance.

The second issue is valuing accounts receivable. Doing business on account does have its risks, primarily that the balances due by some customers are not paid or become uncollectible. The losses that result are recorded as bad debt expense. Bad debt expense can be determined and recorded either when debts actually become uncollectible, called the direct write off method, or by estimating the amounts anticipated to become uncollectible, called the allowance method.

The direct write off method simply credits the customer’s accounts receivable balance, and debits the bad debt expense account when it is determined to be actually uncollectible. This method is not GAAP since it is not good application of the matching principle. The allowance method is GAAP since it properly matches bad debt expense in the same period that the revenues generated from the sale are recorded. The amount to record is determined by estimating what will become uncollectible using either a percentage of net credit sales or a percentage of the receivables balance. The journal entry is a debit to bad debt expense and a credit to a contra-account called the allowance for uncollectible accounts. Using the allowance method, when a receivable balance is determined to actually become uncollectible a debit is made to the allowance for uncollectible accounts and a credit to the specific customer’s receivable account.

When using the allowance method, companies may use either the percentage of sales or the percentage of receivables basis to estimate uncollectible accounts. The percentage-of-sales basis emphasizes the matching principles. The percentage-of-receivables basis emphasizes the cash realizable value of the accounts receivable. An aging schedule is often used with this basis.

The third issue related to accounts receivable is the disposing of receivables. Disposing, of course, means to get rid of, and companies sometimes will get rid of their receivables not through collection, but by selling them to a factor. A factor is a finance company that purchases the legal right to collect balances due. The company selling their receivables will record a service charge expense for the difference between the balance of receivables sold and the proceeds from the factor.

Notes receivable are similar to accounts receivable in the sense that they represent future benefits to be received in the form of cash. A note receivable is defined as a written promissory note because there is a written agreement documenting the amount due and the interest rate applied to the debt balance. The due date for the payment is called the maturity date which can be expressed in terms of days, months or even years. The three issues discussed previously related to accounts receivable, similarly apply to notes receivable.

Recognizing notes receivable refers to the journal entry to formally recognize the amounts due for the note. Sometimes accounts receivable will change to a note receivable should the balance become due over 60 days. What should happen if you were to not pay your credit card balances after 30 days? Probably you would be charged various fees in addition to interest. Interest expense simply is the cost of borrowing funds for a specified time period. To record this change, the debit would be to notes receivable and a credit to accounts receivable. Valuing notes receivable is the same as accounts receivable in that an estimate for the amount to become uncollectible needs to be made.

The disposal of notes receivable results when the balance due plus interest is paid, called honoring of the note, or when the balance due becomes uncollectible, called dishonoring a note receivable.

Interest rates associated with notes are always quoted at an annual rate and will result in interest revenue to the company receiving the funds. Since the interest rate is an annual amount, the interest revenue to record is determined by taking the principal, or balance due, multiplied by the interest rate and also the time period of the outstanding balance. For example, the interest revenue on a $1000, 10 percent, 2 month note, is calculated by multiplying 1000 by the decimal .10 and this result if is then multiplied by a fraction 2 over 12, or 2 months over 12 months.

The financial statement presentation for accounts and notes receivable is always reported at net realizable value. This is the balance of the amounts in these accounts subtracted by any allowance for uncollectible accounts.

Companies should identify in the balance sheet or in the notes to the financial statements each major type of receivable. Short-term receivables are considered current assets. Companies report the gross amount of receivables and the allowance for doubtful accounts. They report bad debts and service charge expenses in the multiple-step income statement as operating (or selling) expenses; interest revenue appears under other revenues and gains in the nonoperating activities section of the statement. Managers and investors evaluate accounts receivable for liquidity by computing a turnover ratio and an average collection period.
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In this chapter we will discuss the accounting of plant assets, natural resources and intangible assets. Plant assets are resources also commonly referred to as property, plant and equipment or fixed assets. In any case, these assets assist companies in the daily performance of their business operations and in most cases will get used up over the course of time, activity or output. The allocation of the cost of fixed asset to expense is called depreciation. All fixed assets, with the exception of land, depreciate over time, activity or output.

Before we discuss methods of depreciation, it is important to emphasize the cost principle as it applies to the acquisition of any asset. The amount debited to the asset account includes any costs associated with the acquisition and preparation for its intended use, including insurance during transit, taxes, freight, attorney fees, commissions, title fees, installation and testing. We do not immediately expense an asset when purchased because we want to match the cost with the revenues generated from its use.

There are four general types of fixed assets; land, land improvements, buildings, and equipment. Depreciation for a period is determined by its cost, useful life and salvage value. Useful life is an estimate of the expected productive life as determined by time, activity or output. Salvage value is an estimate of the asset’s trade-in or scrap value at the end of its useful life.

It is important to realize that depreciation is not a process of valuation, nor is it a process that results in an accumulation of cash. Depreciation is generally determined by using either the straight line method, the units of activity method, or the declining balance method. Each of these depreciation methods are GAAP and management selects the method that best matches depreciation expense with the revenues generated over its useful life.

The straight line method takes the asset’s depreciable cost, which is the cost of the asset less its salvage value, and divides that by its useful life in terms of time. For example, let’s assume a company purchased a truck costing $13,000 with an estimated useful life of 12 years and a salvage value of $1,000. The amount of depreciation expense annually is calculated by taking the $13,000 cost less the $1,000 salvage value and dividing that by the 12 years. The result is $1,000 of depreciation expense each year. The annual adjusting journal entry would be a debit to depreciation expense and a credit to accumulated depreciation for $1,000. Remember that accumulated depreciation is a contra-asset account. Book value is the value at which fixed assets are reported on the balance sheet and determined by the cost less accumulated depreciation.

The units-of-activity method is similar to the straight line method except instead of allocating depreciation according to useful life in time, it allocates according to units of activity. Let’s use the same information related to the truck purchase in the previous example. To calculate depreciation using this method, we first need to determine the depreciable cost per unit, or in this case depreciation per mile driven. So, if we take $12,000 and divide that by an expected 12,000 miles of activity, we get depreciable cost per unit of $1 of depreciation per mile driven. Depreciation expense recognized for the year is the total miles driven in a given period multiplied by the $1 depreciable cost per unit.

The declining balance method calculates depreciation by using the book value as its depreciable cost. Remember, book value is cost less any accumulated depreciation. This method calculates depreciation expense by multiplying the book value by the depreciation rate.

Rate is a percentage and is determined by taking 100% and dividing that by the useful life in time. So, the depreciation rate for an asset lasting 5 years is 20% per year. A common declining balance rate is twice the straight line rate, which is termed the double declining balance method.

So, how do these methods compare in terms of annual amounts of depreciation? The straight line method results in equal amounts of depreciation each full year of usage. The unit of activity method results in varying amounts of depreciation each year since it is dependent upon the actual amounts of usage in a given year. Finally, the declining balance method results in a greater amount of depreciation in the early years than in the later years since it is calculated based upon a declining book value over time.

Depreciation, like other topics we have discussed such as bad debt expense, is based upon an estimate. Companies expect to be very accurate with their estimates since historical information can help us to form these future expectations, but occasionally these estimates need to be revised. Should the estimate of useful life need to be revised, nothing is done respective to depreciation expense recognized in the prior years. Instead, the new depreciable cost is determined and the revised depreciation expense is calculated.

Most long term assets will require some sort of repair and maintenance over the course of their useful life. If the cost and activity related to a repair is relatively ordinary and minor, it is termed a revenue expenditure, and the amount is debited to repair and maintenance expense. What could be an example of a revenue expenditure related to your car? Oil changes, belt and hose replacements and wiper blade changes would all be considered ordinary repairs. If the cost and activity related to a repair increases the operating efficiency, productive capacity, or useful life of a plant asset it is referred to as a capital expenditure. Rather than recording the cost to repair and maintenance expense, it is added to the specific asset’s balance and included in the calculation of depreciation. What could be an example of capital expenditures related to your car? New tires, engines, or transmission would all be considered to increase the useful life or operating efficiency of the asset.

Fixed assets are sometimes sold or otherwise disposed of, during or at the end of their useful life. Whenever any asset is disposed of, it must be removed from the accounting records. In other words, the accumulated depreciation related to the asset disposed of must be debited, the asset credited and any difference in these amounts and proceeds received could result in either a gain or loss on disposal. A gain is similar to revenue in that it has a normal credit balance and a loss is similar to expenses in that it has a normal debit balance. Additionally, gains and losses result from atypical or non-recurring transactions, as opposed to revenues and expenses which result from normal business operations.

Natural Resources are assets that are physically extracted for operations and are only replaceable by nature. For example, timber, minerals, oil and gas are examples of natural resources. Obviously there are companies established for the purpose of extracting these resources. The act of extraction is referred to as depletion. The units of activity method is used to calculate depletion expense.

Intangible assets are the exclusive rights, privileges and competitive advantages granted to corporations. Examples of intangible assets include patents, copyrights, trademarks, slogans, franchises, and goodwill. These assets lack physical substance like fixed assets, but have tremendous value.

The process of allocating the cost of an intangible asset is referred to as amortization. Companies normally use the straight-line method for amortizing intangible assets. The cost of intangible assets with indefinite lives is not amortized.

How do companies report plant assets, natural resources, and intangible assets? Companies usually combine plant assets and natural resources under property, plant, and equipment; they show intangibles separately under intangible assets. Either within the balance sheet or in the notes, companies should disclose the balances of the major classes of assets, such as land, buildings, and equipment, and accumulated depreciation by major classes or in total. They also should describe the depreciation and amortization methods used, and should disclose the amount of depreciation and amortization expense for the period. The asset turnover ratio measures the productivity of a company’s assets in generating sales.
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We will be discussing, in this chapter, current liabilities and payroll accounting. A current liability is a debt or obligation that is expected to be fulfilled using current assets within a period of one year. Examples of some common current liabilities include; accounts payable, sales tax payable, salaries payable, notes payable and unearned revenues.

Notes payable can either be either current or long-term in nature depending on the time in which the debt is expected to be outstanding. Notes expected to be paid within 1 year are current liabilities, while those expected to be paid after a period of 1 year are long term liabilities. A note, you might remember, is a written promissory agreement that provides formal proof of the obligation and requires the borrower to pay interest.

The interest payable on a note is calculated by taking the principal or face value of the note multiplied by the interest rate multiplied by time in terms of one year. For example, a $1000, 10%, 6 month note requires an interest payment of $1000 multiplied by .10 multiplied by the fraction of 2 months over 12 months. The result is interest in the amount of $50.

Sales tax is a type of state tax assessed on various types of purchases. The tax rate assessed is determined by each individual state and actually some states do not assess any sales tax. For those states that do, the merchandiser merely acts as a collection agent by collecting the funds from the customer and passing it along to the state government. Because this is not a cost to the merchandiser, it is not an expense, but a liability payable to the state government in the amount of the funds received. The liability account sales tax payable is credited for the amount to be passed on to the state.

Unearned revenue is a liability account we introduced earlier. You might recall that unearned revenue is an account that describes funds provided in advance of the receipt of products or services. Once those products are delivered or services are provided, the unearned revenue account is debited and the appropriate revenue account is credited.

Notes payable, as we mentioned previously, are treated as a current liability if the balance and interest is to be paid within a period of one year. A note is long term in nature if the term of borrowing is over one year. It is important, however, to remember than if any portion of a long term liability is to be paid within one year, that amount should be reported as a current liability. For example, let us imagine you borrow funds for a period of three years to finance the acquisition of a new car. Most likely you will be writing a check monthly towards the debt and interest associated with the loan. The amounts to be paid over the next twelve months are treated as a current liability, while the balance is long term.

Companies often prepare what is called a classified balance sheet, which helps users perform a variety of financial analyses. One evaluation that is often made is the liquidity of the company. Liquidity analysis provides an evaluation of a company’s ability to pay debts as they come due and meet unexpected needs for cash. Working capital is the difference between current assets and current liabilities and is a frequent analysis of liquidity. It is important to properly distinguish and classify current assets and current liabilities in the balance sheet in order for users to perform effective analysis.

Sometimes a company will be involved in events or activities that could result in a liability. This liability potential is referred to as a contingent liability, since its impact on the company is usually dependent upon some future event. Can you think of any potential liability a company might

have? How about a lawsuit or perhaps products returned within a warranty period? The treatment of these liabilities is determined by their likelihood and the ability to estimate the amount. If it is probable and can be reasonably estimated, a company is required to record it in the accounts. If it is reasonably possible, the contingent liability should be disclosed in the footnotes to the financial statements. If it is remote or unlikely to occur, then nothing needs to be recorded or disclosed.

So how do you think a company would treat its warranties on products or services? Well, since there are probably some products and services that will not satisfy their warranty, and past information can help to assess the potential financial impact, a warranty expense and warranty liability should be recorded in the accounting records. The journal entry to recognize this potential would be a debit to warranty expense and a credit to estimated warranty liability. The journal entry when the warranty needs to be honored is a debit to estimated warranty liability and a credit to the parts used to make the repair. This concept is very similar to our recognition and estimation of bad debt expense, related to receivables, discussed in earlier chapters.

Payroll and fringe benefits typically make up a significant part of the cost of a company’s operations. In this section, we want to clearly demonstrate or explain the three basic parts of payroll. The first is calculation of gross earnings, which includes any compensation paid to employees. This includes vacation pay, commissions, bonuses or any other form of compensation provided. The second is deductions, which can be voluntary by the employee or mandatory by the government. Common voluntary deductions include participation in the health insurance and retirement programs, as well as charitable contributions. Typically these deductions are called pre-tax deductions since no tax is applied to these amounts. Common mandatory deductions include federal and state income tax, as well as social security and Medicare tax. The third and final part is net pay, or the difference between gross earnings and deductions. This is also referred to as take home or net pay, since that is the amount of the check paid to the employee.

In recording the payroll, companies debit salaries (or wages) expense for gross earnings, credit individual tax and other liability accounts for payroll deductions, and credit salaries (or wages) payable for net pay. When the payroll is paid, companies debit Salaries and Wages Payable, and credit Cash.

Companies must also pay payroll taxes. Employer payroll taxes consist of FICA, federal unemployment taxes, and state unemployment taxes. The taxes are usually accrued at the time the company records the payroll, by debiting Payroll Tax Expense and crediting separate liability accounts for each type of tax.

Finally, as payroll is such a significant cost, a company must implement internal control procedures for it. The objectives of internal control for payroll are (1) to safeguard company assets against unauthorized payments of payrolls, and (2) to ensure the accuracy of the accounting records pertaining to payrolls.
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The material we have been discussing to this point takes the perspective of one business owner, which is called a sole proprietorship. Obviously there are other forms of organization, such as partnerships and corporations. This chapter will explore some of the unique partnership characteristics, as well as some basic accounting and financial statement issues associated with partnerships.

So what is a partnership? A partnership is an association of two or more individuals who share ownership in a for-profit business enterprise. It is a separate accounting entity whereby each owner acts on behalf of the other, otherwise known as mutual agency. You might be aware that professional athletes often have their agent represent them at contract negotiations. The agent represents the athlete. In a partnership, each partner represents the interests of the other partners, thus mutual agency. A partnership has limited life since whenever a new partner is added, withdrawn, or even dies, the entity is automatically said to dissolve. Partners have unlimited liability in the partnership because if the business assets are not sufficient to settle the claims against the firm, personal assets may have to be used. In other words, each partner’s liability is not limited by the firm’s assets.

Although we will not discuss it in detail, it is important to understand that there are many different forms of partnerships, each with unique characteristics. These various forms of partnerships include; regular partnerships, limited liability partnerships, limited partnerships, and limited liability companies. Generally, a partner of a firm that has limited liability is called a limited partner and has very little or no official management responsibilities. The partner that assumes unlimited liability is called a General Partner and is responsible for making most of the significant management decisions.

Whatever type of partnership is established, each should have a written partnership agreement. Though an agreement can be oral, it is much better to have the agreement in writing. This partnership agreement will outline the structure, purpose, responsibilities, duties and rights of the organization and each of its partners or members.

The formation of a partnership, once a written partnership agreement is established, starts with accounting for the contributions of each of the partners. The assets contributed are recorded at market value rather than at book value, and each individual partner will have a capital account credited for the value of items contributed. These contributed assets could be cash, fixed assets, or even receivables from a prior business operation.

The expectation for a partnership is that they will generate net income. Income needs to be allocated to the partners based upon the ratio agreed upon in the partnership agreement. This ratio may be based on each partner’s capital account, or it might be allocated based upon their time invested, revenues generated, or responsibilities within the firm. Think back to our discussion related to closing the books at the conclusion of the accounting period. Hopefully you will recall that the temporary account, income summary, was used to close revenue and expense accounts to a zero balance. The difference in revenues and expenses, as reflected in the income summary account, was then closed to the owner’s capital account. Since a partnership involves two or more individuals, each partner will have their own capital account credited for their proportionate share of income.

At the conclusion of the period, once all the adjusting journal entries have been made, the financial statements are prepared. In a sole proprietorship, an owners’ equity statement was

prepared. In a partnership, however, this statement is known as the partners’ capital statement. Similar to the owners’ equity statement, the partners’ capital statement communicates the various effects on each partner capital account during the period.

The principal differences are (a) the partnership shows the division of net income on the income statement, (b) the owners’ equity statement is called a partners’ capital statement, and (c) the partnership reports each partner’s capital on the balance sheet.

Occasionally a partnership is terminated either through mutual agreement, sale, partner death, or bankruptcy. When a partnership is terminated or liquidated, a series of accounting steps must be performed to permanently dissolve the organization. The first step is to sell all non-cash assets and recognize either a gain or loss on the sale. Examples of non-cash assets would be accounts receivable, equipment, inventory, and supplies. The second step is to allocate any gain or loss realized on the sale of non-cash assets to the partner capital accounts on the basis of their income ratio. Step three is the settlement of any partnership debts and obligations. Finally, any cash balance remaining is distributed on the basis of the partner capital account balances.

It is possible that a partner at some point may have a negative balance in their capital account. This is called a partner capital deficiency. Should a partner have a capital deficiency in the liquidation process, either cash is contributed to the partnership or the deficiency amount is allocated to the remaining partners based upon their income ratio.
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This chapter will discuss corporations, their major characteristics, and accounting issues. A corporation is an entity that is separate and distinct from its owners both legally and in terms of its accounting. It is an entity that is taxed on its income, resulting in an income tax expense. It is established by state law, and ownership may be made available either publicly or privately. The owners are called stockholders and their percentage of ownership is determined by the number of shares of ownership they possess.

There are some important advantages to the corporate form of organization. Shareholders have limited liability, meaning their personal liability, or what they can lose in terms of cash, is limited to the investment made in the corporation. Ownership or shares of stock are easily transferable to another party. Corporations have the ability to raise a large amount of cash through the issuance of stock, or ownership in the company. In other words, individuals can exchange cash for ownership. The New York Stock Exchange is a common marketplace whereby individuals can exchange cash for ownership in publicly traded companies. The corporation only issues its stock once, either to an underwriter or directly to the public, through what is called an initial public offering or IPO. The stock that has been issued can then be exchanged through the marketplace of interested buyers and sellers. Unlike the various causes that will result in the termination of a partnership, a corporation has continuous life as long as they can continue to operate profitably.

An organizational chart depicts the chain of command in the corporation. The shareholders are at the top since they are the owners in the business. These shareholders, if they are common shareholders, vote for the board of directors who then hire the officers to handle the day to day management of the operation.

The purpose of offering stock or shares of ownership in the company is to generate a large amount of cash which can then be used for a variety of strategic objectives. Accounting for the stock issued by the corporation depends on whether it has par, no-par or a stated value assigned to each share. Par and stated value refers to the amount of legal capital that must be retained in the corporation, to ensure a minimum amount of cash is available to creditors should the company have to liquidate. This par or stated value amount has no relation to the actual price the stock is sold at and usually is an immaterial amount relative to the market price, but still it must be accounted for.

Before we discuss stock further, let’s take a minute to make sure you understand the distinction between paid-in capital and retained earnings. Paid-in capital is the total amount paid in on capital stock. It is often called contributed capital. Retained earnings is net income retained in a corporation. It is often called earned capital. The issuance of stock affects only paid-in capital accounts.

Stock is either common or preferred in nature. There are distinct differences in the character of each type of stock, but both represent ownership in the corporation. The primary differences are that while common stock has voting rights, preferred stock does not. Preferred stockholders have the right to be paid their share of dividends before anything is paid to common shareholders. The accounting for preferred and common stock is basically the same but separate accounts are maintained for transactions relating to each specific type of stock.

The issuance of either preferred or common stock requires a debit to cash for the proceeds of the sale at the market price and a credit to common or preferred stock. Both of these accounts

have a normal credit balance. If the stock is sold above par or stated value, the excess between the market price and the par or stated value is credited to paid in capital in excess of par or stated value. The common or preferred stock accounts are always recorded at an amount equal to the number of shares issued multiplied by the par or stated value. If the stock is no-par, then there is no use for the paid in capital in excess of par or stated value accounts. Remember that the common stock account, preferred stock account, paid in capital in excess of par or stated value accounts are all classified as stockholders’ equity accounts. Each of these accounts therefore has a normal credit balance.

Sometimes corporations will exchange shares of stock for services or other assets. When this occurs, there is not a debit to cash, but rather to either an asset or an expense account depending upon the reason for the exchange. There still would be a credit to the common or preferred stock account and paid in capital in excess of par or stated value if necessary. The amount to record, however, is either the value of the consideration given up, which is the market value of the stock, or the consideration received, whichever is more readily determinable. When stock is publicly traded, the market value of each share of stock can be easily determined, but when the stock is sold privately this can become more difficult. It is likely in this latter scenario that the amount used to record the value of stock given is the value of the services or asset received in the exchange.

Sometimes a corporation will decide to buy back its own stock in the company, and this stock is called treasury stock. Treasury stock is a contra equity account because it represents a decrease in the outstanding ownership in the company, and it has a normal debit balance. The journal entry to record the purchase of the corporations’ own stock is a debit to treasury stock and a credit to cash. When it is resold, the treasury stock account is always credited at the cost at which it was acquired. The difference between the proceeds of the sale and the original cost of treasury stock will result in either a debit or credit to paid in capital from treasury stock. A debit to the paid in capital from treasury stock means the treasury stock must have been sold at an amount less than its cost. An important guideline to remember is that the paid in capital from treasury stock cannot go below a zero balance. Should the balance of this account reach zero, the deficiency must be debited or taken out of the retained earnings account.

Financial statement users are, not surprisingly, very interested in a company’s stock transactions. In the stockholders’ equity section of the balance sheet, companies report paid-in capital and retained earnings, and identify specific sources of paid-in capital. Within paid-in capital, two classifications are shown: capital stock and additional paid-in capital. If a corporation has treasury stock, it deducts the cost of treasury stock from total paid-in capital and retained earnings to obtain stockholders’ equity.
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We have learned owners in a corporation are known as stockholders or shareholders. Imagine that you are an owner in a corporation; would you expect to receive a share of its earnings? Well, most business owners do expect some sort of share in earnings and these distributions to shareholders are called dividends. How much and when to distribute dividends is a strategic decision made by the board of directors. Dividends are not an expense of the corporation, but rather a reduction of its retained earnings. Dividends are taxable to the stockholder as income.

In order for a corporation to declare a dividend, it must have sufficient balances in both the retained earnings and cash accounts. The declaration date is the day the board of directors announces or declares a dividend, and a legal liability to pay shareholders is established. The journal entry on the declaration date is a debit to retained earnings and a credit to dividends payable.

For a small stock dividend, which we’ll discuss later, the journal entry is a debit to retained earnings, a credit to paid-in capital in excess of Par (or Stated) Value, and a credit to Common Stock Dividends Distributable.

The record date is another important date related to dividend since it establishes the official day that shareholders of record are prepared. This is primarily an administrative date that has no financial impact on the corporation, therefore there is no journal entry recorded.

The payment date is the date that the dividend is actually paid out in cash to the shareholders of record. The journal entry is a debit to dividends payable and a credit to cash.

For a small stock dividend, the journal entry is a debit to Common Stock Dividends Distributable and a credit to Common Stock.

You might remember in the previous chapter we discussed the two types of stock that is issued by the corporation, common and preferred. Also recall that preferred shareholders have the right to first payment of dividends, with the residual or leftover amount going to common shareholders. Preferred stock can either be cumulative or non-cumulative in nature. Cumulative preferred stock simply means that any unpaid dividends from prior years will accumulate to future years when divided payments are actually made.

An alternative to cash dividends in order to satisfy stockholders’ dividend expectations is to provide stock dividends. Stock dividends are deemed to be either small or large in nature. Small stock dividends are when the dividend amount is less than 20-25% of the corporation’s issued stock, while a large stock dividend is greater than 20-25% of the issued stock. If it is between 20-25% there is some judgment involved in the determination. This is important to distinguish because it will determine the amount of the dividend. Small stock dividends use the number of additional shares issued multiplied by the market value to determine the reduction of retained earnings, while large stock dividends will use the par value instead of the market value. The journal entry, of course, is a debit to retained earnings and a credit to common stock and, if necessary, paid in capital in excess of par or stated value. A stock dividend has no overall effect on the total stockholder equity balance since it only results in an effect on stockholder equity accounts.

Stock splits are somewhat like stock dividends in the sense that shareholders receive additional shares of stock or ownership in the corporation, and that they have no overall affect on the total

stockholder equity balance. Examples of stock splits are 2 for 1, 3 for 1, or even 4 for 1. A 2 for 1 stock split means that for each share of stock, a second share is issued, and the number of shares issued doubles. So, if you owned 5 shares before a 2 for 1 stock split, you would own 10 shares after. There is no journal entry for any stock splits because although the number of shares is increased, the par value has a corresponding reduction. So the $10 par value stock in a 2 for 1 stock split will then become $5 par value.

We know the retained earnings account refers to the balance of earnings that is maintained in the corporation. There are three types of restrictions that can be placed on the retained earnings balances; voluntary, contractual, and legal. A legal restriction means that according to state law a portion of retained earnings is restricted from use. Contractual restrictions are often placed by loaning institutions to ensure a greater chance of being paid the outstanding balance. Voluntary restrictions are restrictions by the corporation’s board of directors for a specific purpose, such as future plant expansion.

Companies report each of the individual debits and credits to retained earnings in the retained earnings statement. Additions consist of net income and prior period adjustments to correct understatements of prior years’ net income. Deductions consist of net loss, adjustments to correct overstatements of prior years’ net income, cash and stock dividends, and some disposals of treasury stock.

In the balance sheet, a comprehensive stockholders’ equity section includes all stockholders’ equity accounts. It consists of two sections: paid-in capital and retained earnings. It should also include notes to the financial statements that explain any restrictions on retained earnings and any dividends in arrears. One measure of profitability is the return on common stockholders’ equity. It is calculated by dividing net income minus preferred stock dividends by average common stockholders’ equity.

The form and content of corporation income statements are similar to the statements of proprietorships and partnerships with one exception: corporations must report income taxes or income tax expense in a separate section before net income in the income statement.

Finally, stockholders and potential investors look to financial statement data in evaluating the profitability of a company. Companies compute earnings per share (or EPS) by dividing net income by the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding during the period. When preferred stock dividends exist, they must be deducted from net income in order to calculate EPS.
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This chapter will explain in greater detail long term liabilities. The focus of our learning of long term liabilities includes bonds, notes payable and lease obligations. Previously we discussed the issuance of stock as an exchange of ownership for cash, in order to raise a large amount of capital for strategic objectives. Issuing bonds is an alternative to issuing stock to raise those funds and may be the only option for governmental and other non-profit entities. Bonds are a form of interest bearing notes payable that involve the borrowing of funds from investors in order to raise a large amount of cash for strategic objectives. There are some advantages to a corporation in issuing bonds as opposed to stock. First, stockholder or ownership control is unaffected since bonds represent a liability, not equity. Secondly, since bonds reflect funds temporarily borrowed, interest must be paid to the bondholders. The interest paid is an expense and since expenses have a decreasing effect on net income, the resulting tax expense to the firm is also decreased. Remember that dividends paid to stockholders are not an expense; therefore there is no tax benefit resulting from the payment of dividends. There are many bond types and features that are issued by companies and other organizations. Secured bonds have specific assets pledged as collateral for the bonds, whereas unsecured bonds are issued against the general credit of the organization. Term bonds mature, or the payable balance becomes due, at a single specified date, whereas serial bonds mature in installments. Registered bonds are payable to a specific bondholder of record, while bearer bonds are payable to the current holder of the bond. Convertible bonds allow the bondholder to exchange the bond for stock and callable bonds allow the organization to pay the obligation prior to its maturity date and retire the bond. The decisions as to what features and types of bonds to issue are determined by management based upon their strategic objectives for the organization. Before we get to the accounting related to bonds, we must understand some key terms. The face value of the bond refers to the amount of cash that will be paid to the bondholder upon maturity. The contract rate or stated rate is the interest rate applied to the bond, which will be paid to the bondholder over the course of the bond term. The bond indenture summarizes all the key features and rights of the bondholders, as well as the obligations of the issuing company. Bonds, like publicly traded stock, are bought and sold on national exchanges so the prices at which bonds are bought and sold constantly fluctuate. For our purposes, we want to be clear that we will focus on accounting impact of bonds to the corporation. Bonds can either be issued at face value, below face value (otherwise known as a discount) or above face value (otherwise known as a premium.) A comparison between the contract rate and the current market rate at the time the bond is issued determines if the bond is issued at face, discount or premium. If the contract rate is less than the market rate, the bond is issued at a discount. If the contract rate is equal to the market rate, the bond is issued at face value. If the contract rate is greater than the market rate, the bond is issued at a premium. The accounting journal entries related to bonds are made when they are issued, when interest is paid or accrued, and when bonds are redeemed. When companies issue bonds, they debit Cash for the cash proceeds, and credit Bonds Payable for the face value of the bonds. The account Premium on Bonds Payable shows a bond premium; Discount on Bonds Payable shows a bond discount. When bondholders redeem bonds at maturity, the issuing company credits Cash and debits Bonds Payable for the face value of the bonds. When bonds are redeemed before maturity, the issuing company (1) eliminates the carrying value of the bonds at the redemption date, (2) records the cash paid, and (3) recognizes the gain or loss on redemption. When bonds are converted to common stock, the issuing company transfers the carrying (or book) value of the bonds to appropriate paid-in capital accounts. No gain or loss is recognized. Interest is payable to the bondholders at the contract rate at specified periods outlined in the bond indenture. Let’s assume a bond pays interest semi-annually, or twice a year, on July 1st and January 1st. The credit to cash for the amount paid out is calculated by the face amount of the bond multiplied by the contract rate multiplied by the time period. In the case of our example, the time period would be 6 months over 12 months or one half. Interest expense is debited for an amount determined using either the straight line method or the effective interest rate method assuming there is a discount or premium on the bonds payable. If there is no discount or premium, the amount of interest expense to recognize is the same as the amount of cash that is paid to bondholders. Since the face value of the bond is what is actually paid out at the end of the bond term, any balance on the discount or premium on bonds payable needs to be adjusted each interest period. For example, if there is a discount on the bonds, we know that there is a debit balance on the account. To reduce this, we would credit the discount on bonds payable account each interest period. Again, the amount to adjust the discount and premium is determined by either the straight line method or the effective interest rate method. The straight line method is the easiest and is similar in concept to the straight line method of depreciation, except that the actual adjustment to the bond discount or premium is referred to as amortization. The straight line amortization or adjustment of bond discount or premium each interest period is determined by taking the initial balance and dividing that by the total number of interest periods throughout the bond term. This will allow equal amounts of amortization to be recognized each interest period. The effective interest rate method is the preferred method of amortization and must be used if the amount applied to interest expense varies significantly from that calculated using the straight line method. The effective interest rate method uses the book value or carrying value of the bond to first determine the amount of bond interest expense to record. The book value is multiplied by the market rate to arrive at this amount. The reduction of bond discount or premium is the difference between the cash paid to bond holders and the bond interest expense amount. Up to now, we have focused only on bonds. But there are other common types of long-term obligations: notes payable and lease liabilities. Notes payable can be either current or long term in nature. Mortgage notes payable are a common example of a long term liability since the debt is typically paid back over a period greater than 1 year. In accounting for mortgage notes payable, not only do we need to establish the liability once the funds are borrowed, we need to also recognize the effects of periodic payments on that debt. In a mortgage note, a portion of each payment is applied to principal or the outstanding debt balance and a portion towards interest expense which is the cost of borrowing the money. So, a debit would be made to interest expense and mortgage notes payable, while the credit is made to cash. The amount applied to the reduction of debt is determined by the difference in interest expense the amount of cash paid. The amount of interest expense to recognize is determined by multiplying the balance of the note by the interest rate, which is then multiplied by the time period in terms of one year. Corporations routinely lease certain assets for either a short or long period of time. An operating lease is a lease that allows the usage of a fixed asset for a relatively short period of time and the amounts paid on the lease are debited to rental expense. A capital lease is long term in nature and often involves a formal agreement requiring payments over the lease term. The result is that the asset is recorded in both the accounting records as well as the capital lease liability. The capital lease liability account is adjusted each time a payment is made on that lease. Companies should report the nature and amount of each long-term debt in the balance sheet or in the notes accompanying the financial statements. Stockholders and long-term creditors are interested in a company’s long-run solvency. Debt to total assets and times interest earned are two ratios that provide information about a company’s debt-paying ability and long-run solvency. The debt to total assets ratio measures the percentage of the total assets provided by creditors. The times interest earned ratio indicates the company’s ability to meet interest payments as they come due.
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What would you do if you had some excess cash? Assuming you would want to strengthen your financial position, you might invest it in stocks, bonds or other interest bearing investments. Corporations are not really that much different than most individuals in the sense that they are always looking for ways to increase their cash position and investing is one way to accomplish that objective. In this chapter we will discuss the accounting for stock and debt investments by corporations.

Let’s first discuss how companies account for debt investments.

Remember the cost principle? Well, the cost principle applies to the acquisition of any investment as the asset is always recorded at its cost. Let’s assume we bought corporate bonds for $1,000 plus $50 in commissions. The debit would be to debt investments for $1050 and a credit to cash for $1,050. Remember that bonds pay interest and since this is an investment, the company receiving the interest payments would recognize interest revenue. When the debt is sold prior to maturity the difference between the proceeds from the sale and the cost at which they were acquired will result in either a gain or loss on sale of debt investments.

Companies record investments in debt securities when they purchase bonds, receive or accrue interest, and sell the bonds. They report gains or losses on the sale of bonds in the “other revenues and gains” or “Other expenses and losses” section of the income statement.

The purchase of stock investments also follows the cost principle. The stock investment account is debited for any acquisition cost plus broker’s fees or commissions paid. Accounting for stock investments depends upon the percentage of ownership of the outstanding shares in the corporation. A holding of 20% or less suggests the investor has an insignificant influence on the investee, and therefore the cost method of accounting must be used. The investee is the corporation that issued the stock. A holding of between 20-50% suggests the investor has significant influence on the investee, and therefore the equity method of accounting must be used. A holding of greater than 50% suggests a controlling influence on the investee and therefore consolidated financial statements are prepared. Consolidated financial statements include not only the reporting of the parent corporation, the investor, but also the reporting of the investee, otherwise known as the subsidiary.

When the holding is 20% or less of an investee’s stock, securities must be valued at their fair value for purposes of presentation in the financial statements. The accounting for these fair values depends on management’s intention with the investment. The intention can be either as a trading security, meaning it is bought with the intention of selling it within a short period of time, an available for sale security, meaning the holding period is expected to be longer, or as a hold to maturity security.

If the investment intention is as a trading security the change in value from its acquisition cost is recorded to market adjustment, an asset account, and the unrealized gain or loss account, depending of course on whether the value increased or decreased. For example, let’s assume our investment increased $1,000 from its cost. The debit would be made to market adjustment for $1,000 and a credit would be made to unrealized gain for $1,000. The gain or loss is called unrealized because the security has not been sold. Any unrealized gain or loss on a trading security is reported in the income statement of the investor.

If the investment intention is as an available for sale security the journal entry is the same, however any unrealized gain or loss is reported as an adjustment to equity on the balance sheet rather than reported in the income statement.

Accounting for the sale of stock securities is similar to that mentioned previously with debt securities. The difference between the proceeds of the sale and the cost of the investment is either a gain or loss on sale of investment.

The balance sheet indicates whether a company’s investments are short-term or long-term. Short-term investments are securities that are (a) readily marketable and (b) intended to be converted to cash within the next year or operating cycle, whichever is longer. Investments that do not meet both criteria are classified as long-term investments.
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There are four financial statements, each of which communicates specific information to a corporation’s internal and external stakeholders. These are the income statement, retained earnings statement, balance sheet and the cash flow statement. This chapter is primarily focused on understanding the usefulness and preparation of the cash flow statement.

Earlier in the material you may remember that accrual basis accounting is considered to be GAAP, while cash basis accounting is not. The cash flow statement essentially is a financial statement that reports the cash receipts, payments and net change in cash for a period of time. The cash flow statement provides analysts with information about the company’s ability to generate future cash flows, pay dividends and debts.

Significant non-cash transactions are important; they are reported either in a separate schedule or at the bottom of the cash flow statement. Examples of significant non-cash transactions include the exchange of assets, exchange of assets for stock, conversion of bonds to stock, and exchange of bonds for assets.

Cash inflows and outflows in the cash flow statement are classified into one of three areas; operating activities, investing activities and financing activities. Operating activities are the cash effects of transactions that directly relate to the determination of net income. Investing activities are the cash effects resulting from acquiring and disposing of investments and fixed assets, in addition to lending and collecting loans made by the company. Financing activities are the cash effects resulting from the issuance of debt and stock, repayment of amounts borrowed and payment of dividends.

So, what is needed to prepare the cash flow statement? Usually the information comes from three sources; a comparative balance sheet, current income statement and supplementary information that contains the details of specific transactions. Comparative balance sheets take the balance sheet from the prior year and current year and indication is made as to the changes in account balances from the beginning of the year and the end of the year.

There are two methods in preparing the cash flow statement; the direct and indirect methods. The indirect method is overwhelmingly the most popular choice among companies, so that is what we will focus on learning here. The only difference between the two methods is the information presented in the operating section. The net change in cash from operating activities will be exactly the same under both methods, but the process by which it is derived varies slightly.

The preparation of the operating section of the cash flow statement begins with identifying net income. Accrual basis net income is then adjusted for any non-cash expenses, gains and losses resulting from investing and financing activities, and for changes in non-cash current assets and current liability accounts. The net result of these adjustments is either net cash provided by or used by operating activities. In other words, cash basis net income or net loss.

The investing section reports all cash inflows and outflows resulting from activities related to property, plant and equipment, investments, and making loans. The net result of these cash activities is either net cash provided by or used by investing activities.

The financing section reports all cash inflows and outflows resulting from issuance of stocks and bonds, payment of dividends and purchase of treasury stock. The sum of these cash activities is either net cash provided or used by financing activities.

The net change in cash resulting from the operating, investing, and financing activities are added together to indicate the overall increase or decrease in cash during the reporting period. Using the beginning cash balance, the net change is added, which should equal the ending cash balance per the comparative balance sheet.

To analyze the statement of cash flows, users often employ a cash-based ratio, free cash flow. Free cash flow indicates the amount of cash a company generated during the current year that is available for the payment of additional dividends or for expansion.

Some users and analysts of financial statements will argue strongly that the most important financial statement is the cash flow statement. Cash is our most important and valuable asset both in business and personally. No individual or business can operate for very long without sufficient cash inflows. Think about the sources of your cash inflows and uses of cash outflows. Hopefully you can see the importance, at an individual level, of understanding your operating, investing and financing cash flows. The more you understand and use the information provided by a cash flow statement, the better your financial decisions will be and the more likely you will achieve your personal financial goals.
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If you were looking to invest in a company, would you know which ones are financially healthy? In this chapter, we provide you with some basic tools that will help you evaluate three important characteristics of a company: its liquidity, profitability, and solvency. And you can make all of these evaluations by looking at a company’s financial statements.

Every item reported in a financial statement has significance, both on its own, and in comparison to the other items. There are three bases of comparison: (1) intracompany, which compares an item or financial relationship with other data within a company; (2) industry, which compares company data with industry averages; and (3) intercompany, which compares an item or financial relationship of a company with data of one or more competing companies.

Analyzing financial statements involves evaluating three characteristics: a company’s liquidity, profitability, and solvency. In general, decision makers use three basic tools to analyze financial statement data: horizontal analysis, vertical analysis, and ratio analysis. Horizontal analysis is a technique for evaluating a series of data over a period of time to determine the increase or decrease that has taken place, expressed as either an amount or a percentage.

Vertical analysis, also called common-size analysis, is a technique that expresses each item in a financial statement as a percentage of a relevant total or a base amount. Vertical analysis also allows you to compare companies of different sizes.

We’ve discussed financial ratios in many of the previous chapters. Study carefully the liquidity, solvency, and profitability ratios given in this chapter. The chapter appendix provides a comprehensive illustration of ratio analysis.

Another aspect of financial statement analysis involves determining a company’s earning power. Earning power refers to a company’s ability to sustain its profits from operations. “Irregular items,” which are discontinued operations and extraordinary items, are presented net of tax below income from continuing operations, to highlight their unusual nature.

We conclude this chapter by discussing the concept of quality of earnings. A high quality of earnings provides full and transparent information that will not confuse or mislead users of the financial statements. Issues related to quality of earnings are (1) alternative accounting methods, (2) pro forma income, and (3) improper recognition.
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Perhaps as you are listening to this you are enjoying a can of your favorite beverage. What did you pay

for that beverage and how do you think the manufacturer of the beverage arrived at an appropriate

price at which to sell it? We are going to begin to understand the basics of managerial and cost

accounting which will help to answer these questions.

Before we can answer these questions, let’s distinguish between managerial and financial accounting.

Managerial accounting refers to the field of accounting which assists internal users in making informed

decisions, determining the financial costs associated with those decisions, and finally performing

analysis of those decisions. Managerial information is detailed, not audited, and collected for specific

purposes. Management at various levels, usually depicted in an organizational chart, engage in three

primary management functions within an organization; planning, directing and controlling. Planning is

the process of establishing objectives for the organization and determining the best way to accomplish

those objectives. Directing involves the coordination of all the various departments and activities of the

corporation to effectively and efficiently operate. Controlling is the process of keeping activities and

operations on track and making revisions when and where it is necessary.

Managers of manufacturing, merchandising and service organizations ask questions related to costs

such as: how much did it cost to provide these professional services or how much did it cost to

manufacture our product, what costs decrease or increase if production volume changes, what decisions

can be made to control costs.

Manufacturing costs are the costs incurred in the process of converting raw materials into finished

goods. Raw materials are materials in their most basic form, which are then converted through some

manufacturing process into another finished product. For example, in order to manufacture a car, raw

materials such as steel, plastic and glass are required. Raw materials are resources used in the

manufacturing process and therefore are recorded as assets in the accounting records. Raw materials

can be either direct or indirect. The distinction between the two is whether the amount used can be

reasonably and accurately tied directly to the finished product. Steel is a direct material used in the

manufacturing of a car, while glue would be considered an indirect material since the quantity cannot be

accurately traced to the finished product.

Labor that can be directly associated with the conversion of raw materials to finished goods is called

direct labor, while the labor that is indirectly related to the finished product is called indirect labor.

Both indirect labor and direct labor costs are initially capitalized, meaning recorded as assets, and will

help to determine the actual costs of producing a specific product or service.

Manufacturing overhead refers to all costs associated with the manufactured product which cannot be

classified as either direct materials or direct labor. It consists of costs such as depreciation on factory

buildings, indirect materials such as glue and indirect labor such as supervisory salaries.

It is important to accurately determine the cost of a manufactured product in order to effectively

establish a price at which to sell it. Management therefore needs to determine costs as either product

costs or period costs. Product costs are direct materials, direct labor and manufacturing overhead.

These costs are recorded as assets when incurred, not expensed.

Period costs are non‐manufacturing related costs such as sales, marketing and administrative expenses.

These costs are expensed as incurred, since they are unrelated to the manufacturing process or the

creation of the finished product.

The financial statements of merchandisers are very similar to those of manufacturers. The principal

differences between the financial statements of merchandisers and those of manufacturers occur in two

places: the cost of goods sold section in the income statement and the current assets section in the

balance sheet. Merchandisers, you might remember, report inventory, a finished product, as an asset at

its cost. Manufacturers, in contrast, report three types of inventory in their balance sheet; raw

materials, work in process, and finished goods. In the income statement, the merchandiser adds the

cost of goods purchased to arrive at cost of goods available for sale, while the manufacturer will add the

cost of goods manufactured to finished goods inventory to determine the cost of goods available for

sale. Cost of goods manufactured is determined by taking the total costs of work in process and

subtracting from that the costs associated with ending work in process. Remember that ending work in

process is reported as inventory in the balance sheet.

Managerial accounting practices have significantly changed over the years due to the demand of not

only more information, but more accurate and detailed information, so that effective decisions can be

made from the initial research and development phase through production and the customer relations

and follow up processes. The value chain recognizes these related processes and recognizes the

importance of determining the value added from each activity and its related cost. This assists

managers in making more effective and cost‐based decisions. Enterprise resource planning (otherwise

known as ERP) is an information technology‐based approach to streamline production and ensure value

added activities. Just in time (otherwise known as JIT) is an approach whereby raw materials are

ordered and supplied just in time for production demands. This minimizes some of the costs associated

with raw materials inventory. Total quality management (known as TQM) is an approach focusing on

putting processes in place to reduce manufacturing defects to zero, thereby increasing profitability

significantly. Activity based costing (known as ABC) analyzes each step of the manufacturing process

and determines an effective cost driver to allocate manufacturing overhead costs. Finally, balanced

scorecard is a performance measurement approach that uses both financial and nonfinancial measures

to evaluate all aspects of the company’s integrated operations.
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Manufacturing companies need accurate costing in order to succeed. A good cost system, for example,

will indicate whether a company profited from its past jobs. In this chapter, we discuss how

manufacturing costs are assigned to specific jobs. Let’s start, though, with an overview of cost

accounting.

Cost accounting, as its name implies, involves the measuring, recording, and reporting of product costs.

From the data accumulated, companies determine the total cost and the unit cost of each product. The

two basic types of cost accounting systems are job order cost and process cost.

In job order costing, companies first accumulate manufacturing costs in three accounts: Raw Materials

Inventory, Factory Labor, and Manufacturing Overhead. They then assign the accumulated costs to

Work in Process Inventory and eventually to Finished Goods Inventory and Cost of Goods Sold.

Obviously, companies need to keep an accurate accounting record in assigning all of these costs to jobs.

That record is called a job cost sheet. A job cost sheet is a form used to record the costs chargeable to a

specific job and to determine the total and unit costs of the completed job. Job cost sheets constitute

the subsidiary ledger for the Work in Process Inventory control account.

What about manufacturing overhead? Well, while companies charge the actual costs of direct materials

and direct labor to specific jobs, they actually only estimate manufacturing overhead. This is done

through the use of a predetermined overhead rate. The predetermined overhead rate is based on the

relationship between estimated annual overhead costs and expected annual operating activity. This is

expressed in terms of a common activity base, such as direct labor cost. Companies use this rate to

assign overhead costs to work in process and to specific jobs.

Once jobs are completed, companies debit the cost to Finished Goods Inventory and credit it to Work in

Process Inventory. When a job is sold, the entries are: (a) debit Cash or Accounts Receivable and credit

Sales for the selling price; and (b) debit Cost of Goods Sold and credit Finished Goods Inventory for the

cost of the goods.

At the end of a period, companies prepare financial statements that present the data on all jobs

manufactured and sold, including the cost of goods manufactured schedule. For job order costing, this

statement shows manufacturing overhead applied, instead of actual overhead costs. However, recall

that companies only estimate manufacturing overhead in job order costing. As a result, the

Manufacturing Overhead account can have a debit or a credit balance. Underapplied manufacturing

overhead, a debit balance, indicates that the overhead assigned to work in process is less than the

overhead incurred. Overapplied overhead, a credit balance, indicates that the overhead assigned to

work in process is greater than the overhead incurred. At the end of the year, a company eliminates any

balance by an adjusting entry to Cost of Goods Sold.
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Companies that mass produce similar products in a continuous fashion, such as ice cream, use process

cost systems. Once production begins, it continues until the finished product emerges. Each unit of

finished product is indistinguishable from every other unit.

Job order cost systems are similar to process cost systems in three ways: (1) Both systems track the

same cost elements—direct materials, direct labor, and manufacturing overhead. (2) Both accumulate

costs in the same accounts—Raw Materials Inventory, Factory Labor, and Manufacturing Overhead. (3)

Both assign accumulated costs to the same accounts—Work in Process, Finished Goods Inventory, and

Cost of Goods Sold. However, the method of assigning costs differs significantly, resulting in four main

differences.(1) A process cost system uses separate accounts for each department or manufacturing

process, rather than only one work in process account used in a job order cost system. (2) A process cost

system summarizes costs in a production cost report for each department. A job cost system charges

costs to individual jobs and summarizes them in a job cost sheet. (3) Costs are totaled at the end of a

time period in a process cost system, but at the completion of a job in a job cost system. (4) A process

cost system calculates unit cost as: Total manufacturing costs for the period ÷ Units produced during the

period. A job cost system calculates unit cost as: Total cost per job ÷ Units produced.

Let’s examine the process cost system in more detail, starting with the flow of costs. A process cost

system assigns manufacturing costs for raw materials, labor, and overhead to work in process accounts

for various departments or manufacturing processes. It transfers the costs of partially completed units

from one department to another as those units move through the manufacturing process. The system

transfers the costs of completed work to Finished Goods Inventory. Finally, when inventory is sold, the

system transfers the costs to Cost of Goods Sold.

Entries to assign the costs of raw materials, labor, and overhead consist of a credit to Raw Materials

Inventory, Factory Labor, and Manufacturing Overhead, and a debit to Work in Process for each

department. Entries to record the cost of goods transferred to another department are a credit to Work

in Process for the department whose work is finished and a debit to the department to which the goods

are transferred. The entry to record units completed and transferred to the warehouse is a credit to

Work in Process for the department whose work is finished and a debit to Finished Goods Inventory. The

entry to record the sale of goods is a credit to Finished Goods Inventory and a debit to Cost of Goods

Sold.

But how does the process cost system account for units that are not yet completed? By using something

called equivalent units of production. Equivalent units of production measure work done during a

period, expressed in fully completed units. Equivalent units are the sum of units completed and

transferred out plus equivalent units of ending work in process.

Next, we discuss another distinguishing aspect of a process cost system: the production cost report.

Recall that a process cost system summarizes costs in a production cost report for each department. The

four steps to complete a production cost report are: (1) Compute the physical unit flow—that is, the

total units to be accounted for. (2) Compute the equivalent units of production. (3) Compute the unit

production costs, expressed in terms of equivalent units of production. (4) Prepare a cost reconciliation

schedule, which shows that the total costs accounted for equal the total costs to be accounted for.

The production cost report contains both quantity and cost data for a production department. There are

four sections in the report: (1) number of physical units, (2) equivalent units’ determination, (3) unit

costs, and (4) cost reconciliation schedule.

We conclude this chapter by discussing two contemporary developments in managerial accounting: justin‐

time processing and activity‐based costing.

Just‐in‐time (or JIT) is a manufacturing technique dedicated to producing the right products at the right

time as needed. One of the principal accounting effects is that a Raw and In‐Process Inventory account

replaces both the raw materials and work in process inventory accounts.

Activity‐based costing (or ABC) is a method of product costing that focuses on the activities performed

to produce products. It assigns the cost of the activities to products by using cost drivers that measure

the activities performed. The primary objective of ABC is accurate and meaningful product costs
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Corporations of any size must clearly understand the relationship of how costs respond to changes in

production in order to generate an acceptable profit. Cost behavior analysis is the study of this

relationship between costs and volume and is the basis for this chapter. The activity index is the activity

that causes the changes in cost behavior and is sometimes referred to as the cost driver. The relevant

range refers to the manufacturing production level range a company expects to operate within.

Generally, costs can be classified as either a variable, fixed or mixed cost.

Variable costs are costs that vary directly and proportionately with changes in production volume. For

example, if each item manufactured required $10 in materials, on a per unit basis this variable cost

remains the same. The total materials cost, however, changes directly with production volume. In

other words, total variable costs increase $10 for each additional item manufactured. This example

demonstrated direct materials as a variable cost. Can you think of other examples? Direct labor, sales

commissions, freight and energy costs are all common examples of variable costs.

Fixed costs are costs that remain the same in total regardless of any changes in production volume.

In other words, with fixed costs it doesn’t matter if production volume is 5,000 units or 10,000 units,

assuming no additional plant capacity is needed; fixed costs remain the same in total. Fixed costs on a

per unit basis however decrease as production volume increases. Fixed cost per unit is determined by

dividing total fixed costs by actual production volume.

Mixed costs are costs with both variable and fixed cost characteristics. In other words, at any level of

production there is a specific amount of fixed costs, however at a certain increased level of production,

costs will increase directly and proportionately with these increases. A common example of a mixed

cost is cellular phone expenses. There are numerous plans available to consumers today; however

most providers charge a monthly fixed fee in exchange for a specified amount of cellular talk time.

Should you exceed the time covered for the monthly fee, there is an added charge for every minute in

excess of the time included in the fixed fee. The additional fee is the variable cost element of a mixed

cost.

Sometimes the allocation of total costs to fixed and variable can be challenging. The high‐low method

uses total costs incurred at both the high and low levels of activity to classify these costs as either fixed

or variable. In order to accomplish this you need to determine the variable cost per unit by dividing the

change in total costs by the change in activity level at the high and low levels of activity. Once the

variable cost rate is determined, this rate is multiplied by the level of activity to determine total variable

costs. The difference between total costs, at either the high or low level of activity, and total variable

costs will result in the amount of total fixed costs.

It is very important to understand the relationship between costs and volume in order to effectively use

assets, price products, determine a product mix and generate an acceptable profit level.

Cost volume profit analysis, or CVP analysis, is the study of the relationship between changes in costs

and volume on profits. The five components of CVP analysis are (1) volume or level of activity, (2) unit

selling prices, (3) variable cost per unit, (4) total fixed costs, and (5) sales mix. Companies that use CVP in

their decision making process often prepare a CVP income statement for managerial analysis. This

statement format reports contribution margin or the amount of revenue remaining after subtracting

variable costs from sale revenues. Contribution margin can be reported in total or on a per unit basis.

The contribution margin ratio is also effective since it expresses the relationship between the

contribution margin and its selling price. For example, a 40% contribution margin ratio can be

interpreted to mean that for each dollar in sales price, forty cents is available to contribute towards

fixed costs and net income. This relationship is very effective at communicating the relationship

between sales volume and net income.

Break‐even analysis is commonly performed so that, given a specified sales price, a corporation is aware

of the level of activity that is required in order to have revenues equal to expenses. This break‐even

point can be expressed in either sales units or sales dollars and can be computed using a mathematical

equation, the contribution margin or even through a cost‐volume‐profit graph.

The mathematical equation is expressed as sales revenues equal to variable costs plus fixed costs plus

net income. Sales revenues are determined by multiplying sales price by production volume. Variable

costs are determined by multiplying the variable cost per unit by production volume. Since we are

determining the break‐even point, or where revenues equal expenses, net income would have to be

zero. The contribution margin technique calculates the break‐even point in units by dividing fixed costs

by the contribution margin per unit. The graphic presentation approach uses sales volume along the

horizontal axis, while total revenues and costs are detailed on the vertical axis.

The point at which the total costs line intersects with the total revenues line is where the break‐even

point lies.

The same mathematical formula used to perform break‐even analysis can be used to determine the

production volume or sale price necessary in order to achieve a specified target net income. Rather

than have net income equal to zero, the value to use for net income is the amount of net income a

corporation establishes as its target. The contribution margin technique can also be utilized to

determine target net income in units or sales by dividing fixed costs plus target net income by either the

contribution margin per unit or the contribution margin ratio respectively.

Margin of safety is a term used to describe the cushion between actual or expected sales and the sales

needed to break‐even. If sales fail to materialize as expected, this will describe just how much cushion

the company has.
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Nearly every one budgets. As a student, you budget your time and money. Government agencies budget

revenues and expenditures. And companies use budgets in planning and controlling their operations.

The primary advantages of budgeting are that it (a) requires management to plan ahead, (b) provides

definite objectives for evaluating performance, (c) creates an early warning system for potential

problems, (d) facilitates coordination of activities, (e) results in greater management awareness, and (f)

motivates personnel to meet planned objectives.

But budgets are simply an aid. Companies can only realize the benefits of budgeting when used

effectively. The essentials of effective budgeting are (a) sound organizational structure, (b) research and

analysis, and (c) acceptance by all levels of management.

The term “budget” actually describes a variety of budget documents. All of these documents are

combined in the master budget, which constitutes a plan of action for a specified time period. The

master budget consists of the following budgets:(a) sales, (b) production, (c) direct materials, (d) direct

labor, (e) manufacturing overhead, (f) selling and administrative expense, (g) budgeted income

statement,(h) capital expenditure budget, (i) cash budget, and (j) budgeted balance sheet.

The budgeted income statement is the important end‐product of the operating budgets, as it indicates

the expected profitability of operations. It’s prepared from (a) the sales budget, (b) the budgets for

direct materials, direct labor, and manufacturing overhead, and (c) the selling and administrative

expense budget.

The cash budget shows anticipated cash flows. As you might imagine, that’s why it’s often considered to

be the most important financial budget. It has three sections (receipts, disbursements, and financing),

and indicates the beginning and ending cash balances.

Budgeting isn’t limited to manufacturers, but also used by merchandisers, service enterprises, and notfor‐

profit organizations. Budgeting may be used by merchandisers for development of a merchandise

purchases budget. In service enterprises, budgeting is a critical factor in coordinating staff needs with

anticipated services. In not‐for‐profit organizations, the starting point in budgeting is usually

expenditures, not receipts.
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In this chapter, we talk about how budgets contribute to control activities. Budgetary control consists of

(a) preparing periodic budget reports that compare actual results with planned objectives, (b) analyzing

the differences to determine their causes, (c) taking appropriate corrective action, and (d) modifying

future plans, if necessary.

When used in budgetary control each budget included in the master budget is considered to be static. A

static budget is a projection of budget data at one level of activity. As such, static budget reports are

useful in evaluating the progress toward planned sales and profit goals. They are also appropriate in

assessing a manager’s effectiveness in controlling costs when (a) actual activity closely approximates the

master budget activity level, and/or (b) the behavior of the costs in response to changes in activity is

fixed.

In contrast to a static budget, a flexible budget projects budget data for various levels of activity. What

does that mean? Simply that the flexible budget is a series of static budgets at different levels of activity.

To develop the flexible budget it is necessary to: (a) Identify the activity index and the relevant range of

activity. (b) Identify the variable costs, and determine the budgeted variable cost per unit of activity for

each cost. (c) Identify the fixed costs, and determine the budgeted amount for each cost. (d) Prepare the

budget for selected increments of activity within the relevant range. Flexible budget reports permit an

evaluation of a manager’s performance in controlling production and costs.

Besides budgetary control, another aspect of management control which all companies use is something

called responsibility accounting. Responsibility accounting involves accumulating and reporting revenues

and costs on the basis of the individual manager who has the authority to make the day‐to‐day decisions

about the items. The evaluation of a manager’s performance is based on the matters directly under the

manager’s control. In responsibility accounting, it is necessary to distinguish between controllable and

noncontrollable fixed costs and to identify three types of responsibility centers: cost, profit, and

investment.

Responsibility reports for cost centers compare actual costs with flexible budget data. The reports show

only controllable costs, and no distinction is made between variable and fixed costs. For each profit

center, responsibility reports show contribution margin, controllable fixed costs, and controllable

margin, whereas the primary basis for evaluating performance in investment centers is return on

investment (ROI). The formula for computing ROI for investment centers is: Controllable margin ÷

Average operating assets. Although most companies use ROI in evaluating their investment

performance, it does have a serious disadvantage: it ignores the minimum rate of return on a company’s

operating assets.
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Did you ever think about why you were accepted to take this class or attend the school in which you are

enrolled? Probably you were subjected to, and met, very specific standards. So what exactly ARE

standards? Standards are a way of pre‐determining a certain level of quality or cost. To be accepted at

a particular school, you need to meet certain academic standards established by the institution. The

quality of a particular school may be determined based upon the standards established for its

acceptance of students.

Standards are a way of evaluating performance, but also a way of ensuring a certain level of quality. So,

what is the difference between a standard and budget? A budget represents a plan for total

expenditures whereas a standard expresses the expectation on a per unit basis by taking quality into

consideration.

Standard costs offer a number of advantages. They facilitate management planning, promote greater

economy, are useful in setting selling prices, contribute to management control, permit management by

exception, and simplify the costing of inventories and reduce clerical control.

Standards can be established at either an ideal or a normal level. An ideal standard is one that

represents expectations assuming the organization is operating at an optimum level of efficiency and

effectiveness.

Some managers believe that establishing standards at an optimum level encourages employees to

perform at a higher level than even they thought capable. Critics claim that ideal standards frustrate

employees because the standard is so perfect that it may be unattainable. Normal standards represent

efficient levels of performance that are considered to be attainable assuming normal operating

conditions. Some managers believe that establishing standards at a normal level is more motivating to

personnel because it considers factors such as rest periods, breakdowns and other deviations from ideal

conditions.

Standards in a manufacturing organization are often established for direct materials, direct labor and

manufacturing overhead. Actual price and quantity are compared to the standard price and quantity,

and the variances are determined to be either favorable or unfavorable. In establishing the direct

materials price standard, factors such as the purchase price, freight, storage, and other related costs

would be considered. The direct materials quantity standard would consider factors such as material

quantity required, and allowances for waste and spoilage. The direct labor price standard would

consider wage rates, cost of living adjustments, payroll taxes and fringe benefit costs. The direct labor

quantity standard would factor in production time, rest time and downtime. Manufacturing overhead

is allocated according to a predetermined overhead rate. Remember the predetermined overhead rate

is established by dividing budgeted manufacturing overhead costs by a cost driver or activity index. The

standard manufacturing overhead rate is the predetermined overhead rate multiplied by the activity

index quantity standard.

The standard direct materials cost is determined by multiplying the standard quantity by the standard

price. The same is done for direct labor and manufacturing overhead.

The standard cost per unit is now determined by adding the sum of the standard costs calculated for

direct materials, direct labor and manufacturing overhead. In short, this will tell managers the expected

cost to manufacture one unit of product.

Once these various standards have been determined, the evaluation process is performed by

determining the variances for each aspect of product costs in terms of quantity and price. This allows

management to monitor performance according to the established standards and make any necessary

adjustments to the operations. Remember the materiality, or significance of the favorable or

unfavorable variances, is an important element in determining which variances to investigate further for

causes.

Let’s assume that we have some variances in terms of direct materials, direct labor and manufacturing

overhead and that they are material in nature. What might be some potential causes? Some

explanations might be that direct materials were purchased at a higher or lower cost than expected, or

the quantity of materials needed were less or more than the standard, due to spoilage or waste. Direct

labor rates may have been higher or lower than expected due to the skill level of the personnel used in

the manufacturing process. Direct labor quantity may have been more or less than the standard due to

the actual amount of time used to manufacture the product. Manufacturing overhead may result in a

variance due to higher or lower use of indirect materials or indirect labor than expected. The reporting

of these variances will be made to the appropriate department: purchasing for materials pricing

variances and production for all other variances. Financial statements are prepared in a way that

communicates cost of goods sold and gross profit at standard costs; while variances are itemized for

price and quantity variances for materials, labor and overhead.

There is an approach for completing a wide‐ranging performance evaluation across the organization

called the balanced scorecard. This approach is gaining popularity because it takes into consideration

both financial and non‐financial measurements in establishing a relationship between performance

measurement and organizational goals. The scorecard evaluates performance from the financial,

customer, internal process, and learning and growth perspectives. The theory is that by effectively

balancing these perspectives, the organization can more effectively link their objectives and tie

performance measurement to the overall goals of the organization.
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Do you remember in the first chapter of this book, when we talked about the importance of accounting information? Recall that it’s to provide relevant information for decision making. Let’s now take a closer look at that decision-making process. Management’s decision-making process is to: (a) identify the problem and assign responsibility, (b) determine and evaluate possible courses of action, (c) make the decision, and (d) review the results of the decision. So what managers do in this process is to make a choice among alternative courses of action. And to help them to make that choice, managers often use incremental analysis. Incremental analysis identifies financial data that change under alternative courses of action. These data are relevant to the decision because they will vary in the future among the possible alternatives.

A number of different types of decisions involve incremental analysis, that is, identifying the relevant costs. In this chapter we discuss the following: (1) accept an order at a special price, (2) make or buy, (3) sell or process further, (4) retain or replace equipment, (5) eliminate an unprofitable business segment, and (6) allocate limited resources.

The relevant information in accepting an order at a special price is the difference between the variable costs to produce the special order and expected revenues.

In a make-or-buy decision, the relevant costs are (a) the manufacturing costs that will be saved, (b) the purchase price, and (c) opportunity costs. The decision rule for whether to sell or process materials further is: Process further as long as the incremental revenue from processing exceeds the incremental processing costs. The factors to consider in determining whether equipment should be retained or replaced are the effects on variable costs and the cost of the new equipment. Also, any trade-in allowance or cash disposal value of the existing asset must be considered.

In deciding whether to eliminate an unprofitable segment, determine the contribution margin, if any, produced by the segment and the disposition of the segment’s fixed expenses.

What do all of these above decisions have in common? They involve a choice, usually because the company has limited resources. When a company has limited resources, you need to find the contribution margin per unit of the limited resource. Then multiply this amount by the units of limited resource to determine which product maximizes net income.

In this chapter, we also talk about decisions involving capital expenditures. The process of making capital expenditure decisions in business is known as capital budgeting. To indicate the profitability of a capital expenditure, management turns to annual rate of return measure. The annual rate of return is obtained by dividing expected annual net income by the average investment. The higher the rate of return, the more attractive the investment. To identify the time period required to recover the cost of the capital expenditure, management uses the cash payback technique. The formula is: Cost of capital expenditure divided by estimated net annual cash flow equals cash payback period. The shorter the payback period, the more attractive the investment.

However, the best conceptual approach to making capital budgeting decisions is recognized as the discounted cash flow technique. Two methods are associated with this technique: (1) net present value and (2) internal rate of return. Under the net present value method, compare the present value of future net cash flows with the capital investment to determine net present value. The NPV decision rule is: Accept the project if net present value is zero or positive. Reject the investment if net present value is negative.

Under the internal rate of return method, find the interest yield of the potential investment. The IRR decision rule is: Accept the project when the internal rate of return is equal to or greater than the required rate of return. Reject the project when the internal rate of return is less than the required rate.
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